

## LUND UNIVERSITY

### Investigations of Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Their Age-Associated Alterations

Rundberg Nilsson, Alexandra

2017

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

*Citation for published version (APA):* Rundberg Nilsson, A. (2017). *Investigations of Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Their Age-Associated Alterations*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Division of Molecular Hematology (DMH)]. Lund University: Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### **General rights**

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

## Investigations of Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Their Age-Associated Alterations

ALEXANDRA RUNDBERG NILSSON DIVISION OF MOLECULAR HEMATOLOGY | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Investigations of Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Their Age-Associated Alterations

# Investigations of Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Their Age-Associated Alterations

Alexandra Rundberg Nilsson



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended on January 18, 2017, at 09:00 in Segerfalk lecture hall, BMC A10, Lund, Sweden.

> Faculty opponent Michael Milsom, PhD

Organization:	Document name:
LUND UNIVERSITY	Doctoral dissertation
Section for Molecular Hematology	Date of issue:
Department of Laboratory Medicine	2017-01-18
Author(s): Alexandra Rundberg Nilsson	Sponsoring organization

Title and subtitle: Investigations of Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Their Age-Associated Alterations

#### Abstract

The hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) has and continues to be extensively investigated, and represents by far the most studied somatic stem cell. Development of various experimental technologies, including fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS), have been crucial for research advancements within the hematopoietic field. However, utilization of flow cytometry techniques put high demands on study design, execution, and data analysis. In article I, we addressed a number of important aspects of flow cytometry-based experiments, particularly for experiments evaluating cells present at low frequencies, such as HSCs, and/or of limited sample amounts. Specifically, we highlighted the importance of different types of positive and negative controls. We also presented a 17-parameter analysis design for simultaneous investigation of numerous different mature and immature human hematopoietic cell populations, including HSCs, megakaryocyte/erythrocyte progenitors (MEPs), granulocyte/macrophage progenitors (GMPs), common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs), CD11b<sup>+</sup> myeloid cells, CD1<sup>+</sup> B cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, in one bone marrow sample. Lastly, we discussed data visualization alternatives that allow for appropriate presentation of analyzed results.

Serial transplantation is considered the gold standard approach for *in vivo* evaluation of long-term HSC capacity. Despite the extensive use of this methodology, such experiments are not conducted uniformly between laboratories. In article II, we therefore compared the two most common strategies for serial transplantation (serial transplantation of whole bone marrow [wBM] *versus* serial transplantation of purlifed HSCs). We revealed that donor-derived cells were not evenly distributed among separate bones within individual mice three months after transplantation – a time point that is frequently used for readout of bone marrow engraftment and/or isolation of cells for serial transplantations. We showed that such unequal distribution could impede isolation and serial transplantation of wBM with representative chimerism levels. Serial transplantation of purlifed HSCs would however correct for uneven chimerism levels. Furthermore, serial transplantation of purlifed HSCs is preferential as it ensures evaluation of lineage output from the designated candidate HSC population. We also demonstrated that serial transplantation of purlifed HSCs is preferential as it ensures evaluation of lineage output from the designated candidate HSC population. We also demonstrated that serial transplantation of purlifed HSCs is preferential as it ensures evaluation of lineage output from the designated candidate HSC population. We also demonstrated that serial transplantation of purlifed HSCs is preferential as it ensures evaluation of lineage output from the designated candidate HSC population. We also demonstrated that serial transplantation of purlified HSCs is preferented in primary recipients), which may be hindered when wBM is transplantation design that would maximize the chances to correctly evaluate long-term HSC competence.

Lastly in this thesis, we investigated the effects of aging on human and murine hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs). Such investigations are important for understanding of the underlying mechanisms that cause age-associated alterations of the hematopoietic system, including immune impairments, and increased incidences of anemia and myeloid malignancies. Murine studies indicate that at least some age-associated hematopoietic compartments. Such studies in humans are sparse, as well as conflicting, but necessary to establish species-conserved and species-specific aging patterns, and to confirm mice as relevant model organisms for investigations of aging hematopoiesis. In article III, we revealed that humans and mice demonstrate several similar hematologic aging patterns, including increased HSC frequencies, and lymphoid differentiation impairments. Both species also exhibited prominent transcriptional lineage-skewing patterns of aged HSCs toward enrichments of megakaryocytic/erythroid signatures, while genes involved in lymphoid specification were markedly downregulated. In conclusion, these results confirmed several HSC aging similarities across the human-to-mouse species barrier, as well as demonstrated novel lineage-skewing patterns, within aging HSPCs.

Key words: Hematopoietic stem cells, aging, serial transplantation, self-renewal, flow cytometry, FACS, gene expression		
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-7619-389-1
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

# Investigations of Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Their Age-Associated Alterations

Alexandra Rundberg Nilsson



© Alexandra Rundberg Nilsson

Lund University | Faculty of Medicine | Department of Laboratory Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2017:8

ISBN 978-91-7619-389-1 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2016









"Whenever I'm about to do something, I think, 'would an idiot do that?', and if they would, I do not do that thing. " - Dwight K. Schrute

## Table of Contents

Table of Contents	8
Original Papers and Manuscripts	
Papers included in this thesis	
Papers not included in this thesis	
Abstract	
Abbreviations	14
Background	
The Power of Blood	
The Mature Blood Cell System	
The Discovery of Hematopoietic Stem Cells	
The Hematopoietic Hierarchy	22
Studying HSCs	
Humans Versus Mice	
Hematopoietic Stem Cell Heterogeneity	
Hematopoiesis Through Ontogeny	
Emergence of hematopoiesis	
Adult hematopoiesis	
Aging hematopoiesis	
Protective and Causative HSC Aging Mechanisms	
Protective mechanisms	
Clonality and aging	
Genetics and epigenetics	40
Mitochondria and ROS	
Niche	44
Inflamm-aging	
Senescence	
Aging summary	47
Discussion of Articles	48
Article I	

Article II	50
Article III	53
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	56
Acknowledgements	59
References	61

# **Original Papers and Manuscripts**

### Papers included in this thesis

#### Paper I

Frequency determination of rare populations by flow cytometry: a hematopoietic stem cell perspective.

Rundberg Nilsson A, Bryder D, Pronk CJ.

Cytometry A. 2013 Aug;83(8):721-7. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.22324. Epub 2013 Jul 9. Review.

Paper II

Probing hematopoietic stem cell function using serial transplantation: Seeding characteristics and the impact of stem cell purification.

Rundberg Nilsson A, Pronk CJ, Bryder D.

Exp Hematol. 2015 Sep;43(9):812-7.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2015.05.003. Epub 2015 May 29.

Paper III

Human and Murine Hematopoietic Stem Cell Aging Is Associated with Functional Impairments and Intrinsic Megakaryocytic/Erythroid Bias.

Rundberg Nilsson A, Soneji S, Adolfsson S, Bryder D, Pronk CJ.

*PLoS One.* 2016 Jul 1;11(7):e0158369. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158369. eCollection 2016.

### Papers not included in this thesis

## Genome-wide RNAi Screen Identifies Cohesin Genes as Modifiers of Renewal and Differentiation in Human HSCs.

Galeev R, Baudet A, Kumar P, <u>Rundberg Nilsson A</u>, Nilsson B, Soneji S, Törngren T, Borg Å, Kvist A, Larsson J.

Cell Rep. 2016 Mar 29;14(12):2988-3000. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.02.082. Epub 2016 Mar 17.

# Gain-of-function SAMD9L mutations cause a syndrome of cytopenia, immunodeficiency, MDS and neurological symptoms

Tesi B, Davidsson J, Voss M, Rahikkala E, Holmes T, Chiang S, Komulainen-Ebrahim J, <u>Rundberg Nilsson A</u>, Ripperger T, Kokkonen H, Bryder D, Fioretos T, Henter J, Möttönen M, Niinimäki R, Nilsson L, Pronk C, Qian H, Uusimaa J, Moilanen J, Tedgård U, Cammenga J, and Bryceson Y Blood. In revision.

## Abstract

The hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) has and continues to be extensively investigated, and represents by far the most studied somatic stem cell. Development of various experimental technologies, including fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS), have been crucial for research advancements within the hematopoietic field. However, utilization of flow cytometry techniques put high demands on study design, execution, and data analysis. In article I, we addressed a number of important aspects of flow cytometry-based experiments, particularly for experiments evaluating cells present at low frequencies, such as HSCs, and/or of limited sample amounts. Specifically, we highlighted the importance of different types of positive and negative controls. We also presented a 17-parameter analysis design for simultaneous investigation of numerous different mature and immature human hematopoietic cell populations, including HSCs, megakaryocyte/erythrocyte progenitors (MEPs), granulocyte/macrophage progenitors (GMPs), common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs), CD11b<sup>+</sup> myeloid cells, CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, in one bone marrow sample. Lastly, we discussed data visualization alternatives that allow for appropriate presentation of analyzed results.

Serial transplantation is considered the gold standard approach for *in vivo* evaluation of long-term HSC capacity. Despite the extensive use of this methodology, such experiments are not conducted uniformly between laboratories. In article II, we therefore compared the two most common strategies for serial transplantation (serial transplantation of whole bone marrow [wBM] *versus* serial transplantation of purified HSCs). We revealed that donor-derived cells were not evenly distributed among separate bones within individual mice three months after transplantation – a time point that is frequently used for readout of bone marrow engraftment and/or isolation of cells for serial transplantations. We showed that such unequal distribution could impede isolation and serial transplantation of wBM with representative chimerism levels. Serial transplantation of purified HSCs would however correct for uneven chimerism levels. Furthermore, serial transplantation of wBM was associated with a relative lymphoid skewing, likely as

a result of long-lived lymphoid-restricted non-HSCs. Again, serial transplantation of purified HSCs is preferential as it ensures evaluation of lineage output from the designated candidate HSC population. We also demonstrated that serial transplantation of purified HSCs enable distinction of long-term effects (occurring in secondary recipients) from short-term effects (presented in primary recipients), which may be hindered when wBM is transplanted. Therefore, we highly recommend utilization of purified HSCs for serial transplantation purposes. We also presented a proposed serial transplantation design that would maximize the chances to correctly evaluate long-term HSC competence.

Lastly in this thesis, we investigated the effects of aging on human and murine hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs). Such investigations are important for understanding of the underlying mechanisms that cause ageassociated alterations of the hematopoietic system, including immune impairments, and increased incidences of anemia and myeloid malignancies. Murine studies indicate that at least some age-associated hematologic changes are linked to alterations occurring in the most immature hematopoietic compartments. Such studies in humans are sparse, as well as conflicting, but necessary to establish species-conserved and species-specific aging patterns, and to confirm mice as relevant model organisms for investigations of aging hematopoiesis. In article III, we revealed that humans and mice demonstrate several similar hematologic aging patterns, including increased HSC frequencies, and lymphoid differentiation impairments. Both species also exhibited prominent transcriptional lineage-skewing patterns of aged HSCs toward enrichments of megakaryocytic/erythroid signatures, while genes involved in lymphoid specification were markedly downregulated. In conclusion, these results confirmed several HSC aging similarities across the human-to-mouse species barrier, as well as demonstrated novel lineage-skewing patterns within aging HSPCs.

## Abbreviations

AGM	Aorta-gonad-mesonephros	
APC	Antigen-presenting cell	
CB	Cord blood	
CFU-E	Colony-forming unit erythroid	
CFU-S	Colony-forming unit in spleen	
CLP	Common lymphoid progenitor	
CMRP	Common myeloid repopulating progenitor	
CNS	Central nervous system	
DC	Dendritic cell	
DDR	DNA damage response	
DEG	Differentially expressed gene	
d-HSC	Definitive hematopoietic stem cell	
DSB	Double-strand break	
E	Embryonic day	
ELP	Early lymphoid progenitor	
EMP	Erythro-myeloid progenitor	
ErP	Erythroid progenitor	
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorting	
FMO	Fluorescence minus one	
GM	Granulocyte/macrophage	
GMLP	Granulocyte-monocyte-lymphoid progenitor	
GMP	Granulocyte-macrophage progenitor	
GO	Gene ontology	
GSEA	Gene set enrichment analysis	
GVHD	Graft-versus-host disease	
GVT	Graft-versus-tumor	
H3K4me3	Trimethylation of histone H3 at lysine 4	
НСТ	Hematopoietic cell transplantation	
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus	
HR	Homologous recombination	
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell	
	-	

HSPC	Hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell	
iPSC	Induced pluripotent stem cell	
IRP	Internal reference population	
LMPP	Lymphoid-primed multipotent progenitor	
LPS	Lipopolysaccharid	
MEP	Megakaryocyte-erythrocyte progenitor	
Mk/Er	Megakaryocyte/erythroid	
MkP	Megakaryocytic progenitor	
MkRP	Megakaryocyte repopulating progenitor	
MLP	Myelo-lymphoid progenitor	
MPP	Multipotent progenitor	
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA	
NAD	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide	
NHEJ	Non-homologous end joining	
NK cell	Natural killer cell	
pGM	pre-granulocyte-macrophage	
preCFU-E	pre-colony-forming unit erythroid	
preMegE	pre-megakaryocyte/erythrocyte progenitor	
RA	Retinoic acid	
RBC	Red blood cell	
Rho-123	Rhodamine-123	
ROS	Reactive oxygen species	
SASP	Senescence-associated secretory phenotype	
SL-MkP	Stem-like megakaryocyte-committed progenitor	
TF	Transcription factor	
TPO	Thrombopoietin	
UPR <sup>mt</sup>	Mitochondrial unfolded protein response	
vWF	von Willebrand factor	
WBC	White blood cell	
wBM	Whole bone marrow	
WT	Wild-type	

## Background

### The Power of Blood

Through history, blood has been considered a mystical and powerful element, containing both healing and illness-causing powers (Figure 1). In many faiths and religions, blood was sacrificed to Gods as a token of respect and hope of good fortune. Blood from young individuals, especially virgins, was regarded particularly pure and was even used to bathe in or transfuse with for immortalization or rejuvenation purposes (1). Interestingly, a clinical study aimed at rejuvenating elderly individuals by infusion of plasma from younger individuals was recently initiated in the United States, although the scientific design of this particular study has been widely questioned (2). Nevertheless, the theory behind the trial stems from studies where the circulatory systems of young and aged mice were joined together (heterochronic parabiosis), demonstrating rejuvenating effects in muscle (3), heart (4) and central nervous system (CNS) (5) of the aged mice. Two additional similar human trials involving serum transfusions from voung to elderly individuals were also recently initiated – one evaluating potential effects on cognitive symptoms in Alzheimer's patients, and the other on ageassociated frailty (2). Results from these studies have not yet been presented.

Bloodletting (withdrawal of blood) has a long history and presumably began in Egypt about 3,000 years ago. It was widely used during the time of Hippocrates (~460-370 B.C.) when sickness was believed to arise from imbalances between the four basic humors; blood, phlegm, black bile, and yellow bile. One way to address these illnesses was through bloodletting, thus restoring the humor equilibrium. Although the original use of the bloodletting practice is largely rejected since well over 100 years, a few conditions, such as hemochromatosis (a disorder causing accumulation of iron), polycythemia vera (a disorder with overproduction of mainly erythrocytes and platelets), and postoperative care of skin grafts and re-implantation surgery (where leeches are used to stimulate blood circulation), are still treated with bloodletting-like therapies (6, 7).

Research advancements progressively led to demystification of blood. In 1628, blood was found to circulate within the body, and in 1674. Van Leeuwenhoek showed that blood could be visualized under the microscope. Blood transfusions were performed first between animals, then between animals and humans, and finally between humans. Unfortunately, many of the first transfusion attempts between humans were accompanied by disastrous fatalities, with both donors and recipients losing their lives due to infections, extensive blood loss, and immunological incompatibilities. In 1901, the ABO blood group system was discovered, and could later be exploited to diminish rejection of donor blood after transfusion. During World War I, transfusion became a life-saving treatment for many injured soldiers. Regrettably, it was later discovered that transfused blood had occasionally transmitted fatal viruses, such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and Hepatitis C, which led to a downfall and distrust for blood treatments (1). Today, however, all blood donations in member states of the World Health Organization (WHO) are screened for at least HIV-1, HIV-2, Hepatitis B, Hepatitis C, and Syphilis (8).

Following discoveries that revealed regenerative potentials of bone marrowderived cells, transplantation of such cells to rescue and recover the hematopoietic system after cytotoxic therapies (e.g. during leukemia treatment) was considered a very promising element in different treatment strategies. In addition, hematologic rescue would allow harsher application of available treatment methods to eradicate





Blood cells have been exploited in many different ways with hope of obtaining beneficial outcomes. Based on supernatural beliefs, blood was sacrificed to Gods. Furthermore, bloodletting was during extensively periods used in ancient medicine to re-establish fluid balances. Medical advancements later paved the way for the usage of blood cells in more proper medical therapies. Transfusions and transplantations represent lifesaving treatments, and today's research developments even allow for specific manipulations of the blood cell genome. Such genetic therapies can potentially cure diseases caused by genetic mutations using the patients' own cells. Gene manipulations are also extremely valuable for basic research purposes, e.g. when functions of specific genes, or mutation-caused disorders are investigated.

diseased cells. However, due to immune system incompatibilities, similar to those observed following blood transfusions, the first patients receiving hematopojetic cell transplantations (HCTs) died. Later on, successful transplantations were performed using identical twin donors, and later even with immune system matchings of unrelated individuals (9). Much of the initial failure following transplantations in humans was caused by graft rejection or graft-versus-host disease (GVHD). Due to the inbred nature of laboratory animals, this effect was in general not observed in mouse experiments. In the process of overcoming the hurdles of therapeutic HCTs, progress was achieved through fine-tuning of immune compatibility matching, immunosuppressive therapy, and cancer-ablation treatments (including total body irradiation and chemotherapy). Although GVHD was a problem, it was also discovered that transplantations with accompanied GVHD had decreased likelihoods of relapse, presumably caused by a graft-versustumor (GVT) effect where donor cells attack tumor cells (10, 11). Unfortunately, HCTs are still very risky, and constitute a last resort in many treatment strategies. Despite age-associated increased risks of developing many leukemias and blood disorders where HCTs can be used in the treatment process (10), there are therefore relatively fewer elderly individuals that receive HCTs. Today, a new era of blood cell-derived transplantation therapies is emerging where gene therapy techniques possess potential to correct, introduce, or inactivate genes in patients' own cells and/or in cells engineered to serve specific functions.

### The Mature Blood Cell System

The word *hematopoiesis* stems from the Greek words *haima* ( $\alpha \tilde{\iota} \mu \alpha$ ), meaning "blood", and *poiesis* ( $\pi \circ \iota \epsilon \tilde{\iota} \nu$ ), meaning "to make", and refers to the formation of blood cells. In adults, this process primarily takes place in the bone marrow, while fetal hematopoietic activity occurs within multiple sites and with variant functionality (discussed further in "**Hematopoiesis Through Ontogeny**"). The effector cells of the hematopoietic system that conduct immune reactions, promote healing, and transport essential molecules, are the mature blood cells. These can be roughly divided into three main groups: 1) *red blood cells* (RBCs; erythrocytes), 2) *thrombocytes* (platelets), and 3) *white blood cells* (WBCs; leukocytes). Erythrocytes are the most abundant cells in the human body (12). Their main function is to transport oxygen and carbon dioxide (13). Platelets represent the second most common cell type (12) and specialize in blood clotting to stop

bleeding (14). WBCs make up the immune system and include cells of the *innate immune system*, also referred to as the *non-specific*, or *immediate*, immune system, as well as the *adapted immune system*, also referred to as the *acquired*, or *specific*, immune system (15, 16) (Figure 2). Blood cells can also be divided into *myelo-erythroid* (many times referred to only as "myeloid") and *lymphoid* lineages, based in their proposed cellular origins. Although alternative pathways have been demonstrated, a myelo-erythroid *versus* lymphoid subdivision generally places erythrocytes, platelets, granulocytes, monocytes, macrophages, and subsets of dendritic cells (DCs) within the myeloid lineage, whereas B cells, T cells, natural killer (NK) cells and other DC subsets belong to the lymphoid lineage. The myelo-erythroid lineage can be further divided into stricter *myeloid versus megakaryocytic/erythroid* lineages (Figure 2).

The innate immune system is the first line of immune defense that harmful agents encounter. It recognizes and responds to infections in short-term universal fashions (16). The innate immune system typically includes granulocytes, monocytes/macrophages, DCs, and NK cells (Figure 2). Granulocytes combat invading particles through release of toxic substances and phagocytosis (where foreign particles are encapsulated and digested) (16). Granulocytes also recruit more specialized immune cells to infection sites. Monocytes are recruited to damaged or infected tissues where they differentiate and reside as *macrophages*. Similar to granulocytes, macrophages remove dving cells and pathogens through phagocytosis (16). The macrophages are however larger than granulocytes and can therefore engulf larger particles. Macrophages are also more long-lived as they secrete digested products to protect themselves. Furthermore, macrophages are involved in antigen-presentation to T cells (16). Dendritic cells are also antigenpresenting cells (APCs). They constantly consume particles in their surroundings, including viruses and bacteria, which they then present on their surfaces, thus communicating to the adaptive immune system to respond (16). NK cells specialize in recognizing cells that have been altered, e.g. cancer and virusinfected cells (16). Contributing roles for NK cell subsets have however been implicated in both innate and adaptive immunity (17).

The adaptive immune system, mainly consisting of B and T cells, generates more specific responses than the innate immune system and gives rise to an immunological memory (16), which amongst others is the basis for vaccination as a clinical regimen. It however takes longer to evoke than the innate immune response since it must to be primed. After activation (directly by antigens or by



#### Figure 2. Mature blood cells.

Mature blood cells can be subdivided based on e.g. their cellular origins (lineages) or immune functions. Depicted in this figure are lineage subdivision into myeloid, lymphoid, and megakaryocytic/erythroid lineages, as well as immunological subdivision into innate and adaptive immune compartments.

other immune cells), *B cells* combat infections by converting into antibodysecreting plasma cells. The antibodies bind to the antigens and act by neutralizing or marking the invading object for destruction. B cells also produce memory B cells that remain in the body and that can be activated quicker upon repeated exposure (16). *T cells* consist of different subsets that together regulate the immune response by destruction of infected cells and tumor cells, production of memory T cells, and secretion of cytokines that influence behaviors of other immune cells. A subset of T cells has also been implicated in regulation of selftolerance (16).

### The Discovery of Hematopoietic Stem Cells

Although blood was a cornerstone of treatments and various religious beliefs for millennia, it was not until more modern times that the process of blood cell production was better comprehended. In 1906, Alexander Alexandrovich Maximov was the first to suggest that the mature effector blood cells were produced through differentiation from stem cells (18). Though first encountered with skepticism, his general idea holds to this day. It took almost another 50 years until researchers proposed that these hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) reside in the bone marrow or spleen. This work was pioneered by the tragic events following the nuclear bombings during the aftermath of the World War II. Studying the survivors that died with delayed kinetics following radiation exposure contributed tremendously to insights of radiation-damaging effects. During the days/weeks following the irradiation these patients suffered many severe complications, including bone marrow failure. Based on those observations, it was discovered in the early 1950s that animals exposed to lethal doses of irradiation could survive when the bone marrow or spleen was protected, or when subsequently injected with cells from bone marrow or spleen from non-irradiated mice (19, 20). Groundbreaking work in this field was further performed by Till and McCulloch, who injected bone marrow cells from donor mice into lethally irradiated recipients, and observed that these gave rise to colonies with mixed mature lineage output in the spleen (21). Although the spleen colonies in these experiments only contained cells of erythroid, megakaryocytic, and myeloid lineages, subsequent studies revealed that the initiating cells of these colonies also harbored lymphoid potential, thereby suggesting a common progenitor for all these lineages (22). Furthermore, the number of colonies in the spleen showed a linear relationship to the injected number of nucleated bone marrow cells. This, together with the observed multi-lineage output, made the authors hypothesize that spleen colonies originated from single cells that the authors referred to as "colony-forming units in spleen" (CFU-S). Irradiation of donor bone marrow suspensions prior to injection, demonstrated a linear relationship between irradiation dose and survival of the number of CFU-S. Experiments using irradiation-induced chromosomal abnormalities later confirmed that individual colonies did originate from single cells as > 90 percent of the cells in the same colony harbored identical chromosomal abnormalities (23, 24). Collectively, these findings indicated that the



Figure 3. Key characteristics of stem cells.

Stem cells possess two key characteristic properties that enable continuous regeneration throughout a lifetime: 1) Durable self-renewal, and 2) Ability to produce differentiated progeny.

spleen colonies stemmed from single cells with multi-lineage potentials, potentially HSCs.

With experimental findings suggesting HSC behavior came a demand for assays capable of investigating stem cell functions. Preferentially, these assays would test the potential of proposed HSCs not only to generate differentiated progeny, but also to self-renew (produce copies of themselves) – the two key characteristics of stem cells (**Figure 3**). Serial transplantation of spleen colonies into new hosts, revealed that cells from these colonies were able to spawn new multi-lineage colonies in spleens, indicative of self-renewal (25). However, it was later suggested and proved in more thorough investigations that the majority of these colonies were produced from progenitor cells (described in the next chapter) rather than stem cells (26-29).

### The Hematopoietic Hierarchy

During the process of hematopoiesis, HSCs generate continuously more differentiated cell types in a step-wise manner and ultimately the mature effector blood cells (**Figures 2 and 4**). Due to the short-lived nature of mature blood cells, constant replenishment is required throughout a lifetime. This is a high demand, with approximately a trillion  $(10^{12})$  new blood cells being produced daily (30). It is estimated that an average human adult produces his own body-weight in erythrocytes, granulocytes, and platelets, during a 7-year period (31), demonstrating the enormous pressure that is put on the cells that are responsible for lifelong maintenance of hematopoiesis.

Many studies addressing the hierarchical relationships between cells of the hematopojetic system have been conducted in mice during *in vitro* (outside a living organism), and/or at non-steady state conditions. Observed potentials may therefore differ from those occurring during physiological conditions (discussed further in "Studying HSCs"), but may also represent non-linear or alternative differentiation pathways that are initiated in response to specific output requirements. Differences in hierarchical organization and lineage potential of phenotypically similar cell populations have also been reported between cells isolated from different developmental sources (32, 33). Continuously increasing research point to that hematopoietic cells are primed for differentiation into specific mature blood cell types at very early stages in the differentiation hierarchy (33-42). As a consequence, proposed HSPC subsets are not homogenous populations consisting of single cells with equal differentiation abilities. These elements complicate establishment of a simple hematopoietic differentiation cascade outlay. The hematopoietic organization described below is therefore a generalized outlay of adult hematopoiesis (depicted in Figure 4).

During the differentiation route from HSCs to mature cells, intermediate cell types arise with increasingly restricted potentials (Figure 4). These progenitor cells are crucial for expansion of the number of cells that can be produced from each HSC. A hierarchical organization of the blood cell system also minimize proliferationinduced damages in HSCs as proliferative pressure can be put on downstream cells (43). The very first steps of HSC differentiation result in progressive loss of selfrenewal capacity, but continued full multi-lineage potential (43). These intermediate steps are referred to as intermediate HSCs (IT-HSCs) (44), short-term HSCs (ST-HSCs) (45), or multipotent progenitors (MPPs) (46, 47), dependent on the level of self-renewal competence and reconstitution ability that the cells retain (48). Several studies suggest that the first branching point in lineage differentiation potential arise at the MPP stage between the megakaryocytic/erythroid (Mk/Er) lineage and the myeloid/lymphoid lineage (Figure 4), as cells harboring both myeloid and lymphoid potential, but very limited Mk/Er potential have been identified (37, 49, 50). Different names/types of bipotent myelo-lymphoid progenitors have been suggested, such as lymphoid-primed multipotent progenitors (LMPPs) (32, 37, 50), granulocyte-monocyte-lymphoid progenitors (GMLPs) (51, 52), and myelo-lymphoid progenitors (MLPs) (32). Hints of these cells' lineage potentials are revealed in their gene expression patterns, where key myeloid (such as PU.1 and C/EBP- $\alpha$ ) and lymphoid (such as PAX5 and GATA-3) transcription factors (TFs) are expressed, while expression of erythroid TFs (such as GATA-1), are lacking (32). These myelo-lymphoid progenitor populations that are identified in different studies are suggested to represent different steps in the differentiation cascade, contain several more specific cell types, and/or be the result of assay-specific potentials/interpretations. A recent study based on transcriptional profiles of individual murine steady state HSPCs suggests that three trajectories (towards Mk/Er, granulocyte/macrophage, and lymphoid, respectively) arise already at the ST-HSC level (53).



#### Figure 4. Simplified schematic of the hematopoietic hierarchy.

HSC = hematopoietic stem cell, MPP = multipotent progenitor, LMPP = lymphoid-primed multipotent progenitor, MEP = megakaryocyte/erythrocyte progenitor, GMP = granulocyte/macrophage progenitor, CLP = common lymphoid progenitor, MkP = megakaryocytic progenitor, ErP = erythroid progenitor.

During the course of differentiation, mouse multipotent progenitors first lose their Mk/Er potential, and then their granulocyte/macrophage potential (49). Studies of human umbilical cord blood (CB) confirm that granulocyte potential is lost very early in the differentiation cascade also in the human setting (54). Downstream of bipotent myelo-lymphoid progenitor cells, myeloid-restricted granulocyte-macrophage progenitors (GMPs) (55), with potential to generate granulocytes, monocytes, and myeloid DCs (35, 56), have been identified (**Figure 4**). Recent single cell transcriptome analysis suggests that early myeloid progenitor populations consist of several subgroups that are already primed for differentiation fate is established at earlier stages in the hierarchy (34). *In vitro* functional evaluations confirm that the GMP compartment is heterogeneous with single cells exhibiting distinct differentiation potentials (35).

Downstream of bipotent myelo-lymphoid progenitor cells, the common lymphoid progenitor (CLP), which gives rise to B cells, T cells, NK cells, and DCs, has also been discovered (57-59) (**Figure 4**). Some studies question a restricted lymphoid potential of CLPs since Mac1<sup>+</sup> (a marker commonly used to detect monocytes and thereby myeloid lineage) cells are produced from CLPs. Other studies on murine CLPs have however shown that the produced Mac1<sup>+</sup> cells concomitantly express CD11c, indicating that these cells are DCs (58), and thus agree with a restricted lymphoid potential. At least a proportion of CLPs can give rise to all of the four main lymphoid lineages on a clonal level (58). There are however also alternative differentiation pathways for lymphoid lineages, which is demonstrated by the identification of separate differentiation trajectories from LMPPs into the T cell linage that pass through as well as outside of the CLP stage (60).

Megakaryocytic and erythroid lineages have been largely overlooked in many *in vivo* (within a living organism) studies. Underlying this is their absence of the panhematopoietic CD45 (Ly5) marker, that is widely used to distinguish between donor, competition, and host contributions in competitive transplantation experiments. Several recent studies have however shed lights on these pathways, and shown that particularly the megakaryocytic lineage is primed very high up in the developmental hierarchy, even as early as within the LT-HSC compartment (36) (discussed more in "**HSC Heterogeneity**"). Mk/Er progenitors (MEPs) as well as Mk-restricted progenitors have been shown to arise from MPPs (33), but also directly from ST-HSCs (37), and LT-HSCs (38), thereby bypassing the MPP stage (**Figure 4**). Mk-committed progenitors within the phenotypically defined

HSC pool (38, 61) can be generated within one cell division from LT-HSCs, but do not possess serial transplantation capacities (38). Such stem-like Mk-committed progenitors (SL-MkPs) are quiescent during steady state, but can be quickly recruited under acute stress conditions and produce platelets with rapid kinetics (61), demonstrating that different trajectories within the hematopoietic hierarchy may represent differentially regulated pathways that are activated upon distinct requirements.

### Studying HSCs

Early studies had no opportunity to isolate pure HSCs and relied solely on evaluation of very heterogeneous populations of cells. Although these cells could be individually marked, there was little possibility to trace back and isolate enriched populations exhibiting similar behaviors. Development of isolation techniques, such as *fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS)*, have contributed tremendously to advancements in HSC research. FACS methodology allows for isolation of single cells on the basis of distinct cell-surface markers, and is today widely used for HSC analysis and purification purposes. Application of index sorting practices (where marker distributions of individually sorted cells are saved), enable further backtracking after single cell evaluations. Flow cytometry-based applications of very infrequent populations of cells that are defined by multiple markers, such as HSCs, require particularly careful consideration of sample preparation, acquisition, as well as analysis strategies, and are discussed in **Paper I**. Neglecting these factors may limit or distort information extracted from such analyses.

Extensive investigations of murine HSCs have resulted in that these can be isolated to higher purity with phenotypical markers than human HSCs (**Figure 5**). Marker combinations enriching for both human and murine HSCs usually include exclusion of cells expressing mature surface lineage markers (lin<sup>-</sup>). Murine HSCs can be further enriched by inclusion of Sca-1 and c-Kit markers (L<sup>-</sup>S<sup>+</sup>K<sup>+</sup>, or simply LSK). This combination enriches mouse HSCs to a purity of about 1 in 30 (43). Additional markers, such as CD34<sup>-</sup>Flt3<sup>-</sup>, or CD48<sup>-</sup>CD150<sup>+</sup>, can enrich additionally for mouse HSCs with long-term repopulation activity to about one in every five cells (62) (**Figure 5**). Most phenotypical markers used for mouse HSC isolation cannot be used as enrichment markers of human HSCs. The functional ability of



#### Figure 5. Markers used for HSC isolation.

Representation of phenotypical markers routinely used for FACS-isolation of mouse and human HSCs. Conventionally used murine markers allow for a higher purity of HSCs (about 1 in 5 cells) compared human markers, which can only enrich HSCs to a purity of about 1 in 10. Alternative markers represent markers that can be added to or replace the commonly used markers. For replacement strategies, Lin Sca-1\*c-Kit\* (mouse) and Lin CD34\* (human) are typically still included.

immature hematopoietic cells to efflux Rhodamine-123 (Rho-123) and Hoechst 33342 (40, 63-65) is however shared, and can be utilized to enrich for primitive hematopoietic cells in both species. Purification of human HSCs usually rely on the CD34 antigen, which is expressed on human HSPCs (66). It should be mentioned that some CD34<sup>-</sup> human HSCs have also been isolated from CB (67-69), where they were suggested to be developmentally higher up in the hierarchy, i.e. more immature (68) than CD34<sup>+</sup> CB HSCs. However, studies of human bone marrow HSCs show that CD34<sup>+</sup> HSCs can generate CD34<sup>-</sup> HSCs that then in turn can produce new CD34<sup>+</sup> cells (70), indicating perhaps more dynamic relationships. Nevertheless, calculations suggest that > 99 % of human HSCs are likely included in the CD34<sup>+</sup> population (71). Further markers used for isolation of human HSCs include CD38<sup>-</sup> (71), CD45RA<sup>-</sup> (72), and CD90<sup>+</sup> (73). Additional inclusion of CD49f<sup>+</sup>, thereby using a Lin<sup>-</sup>CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>CD45RA<sup>-</sup>CD90<sup>+</sup>CD49f<sup>+</sup> surface marker phenotype, provides enrichment of long-term repopulating human HSCs to about 1 in every 10 cells (74).

FACS-purification allows for *in vivo* and *in vitro* functional evaluations of candidate HSC populations, as well as snap-shot investigations of cellular states. Competitive primary and serial transplantations of HSCs that are isolated based on the above-described markers are extensively used in HSC research and represent gold standard assays for evaluation of *in vivo* HSC competence. Serial transplantations are utilized in investigations where long-term competence and self-renewal capacity of HSCs are assessed, while primary transplantations are used for evaluations of more short-term behaviors. Serial transplantations force cells to undergo self-renewal and lineage differentiation. Only true HSCs are believed to possess capacity to endure multi-lineage maintenance of hematopoiesis through serial transplantations, and long-term HSC capacity can thus be studied in

an accelerated and/or challenged setting. Various progenitor and/or mature blood cell populations have however also shown relatively long-lived potentials. Despite the extensive use, serial transplantation experiments are not conducted uniformly between studies. In **Paper II**, we therefore evaluated and discussed advantages and pitfalls of different serial transplantation approaches, and found that serial transplantation study design could severely impact transplantation outcomes and interpretations of HSC behavior. Additionally, inconsistency in transplantation strategy complicate comparisons of results from different laboratories. Based on the findings in our study, we suggested a preferential experimental outlay that would maximize the chances to accurately assess long-term HSC competence.

Although transplantations are extremely useful for evaluations of in vivo biological performances they do not reflect physiological conditions. To avoid improper interpretations of non-steady state behaviors as steady state performances, recent experimental techniques allow for in situ (local; in its original position) labeling of HSC populations, thus reflecting conditions more similar to normal physiological conditions. The use of such techniques has demonstrated several key differences in HSC behavior between "stressed" and steady state hematopoiesis, although conflicting results between different steady state studies have been reported (75-78). Though these methods are much less invasive, they still require slight deviation from steady state, such as doxycycline or tamoxifen administration, which may influence on cell performance (79-81). Although these models enable evaluation of more unperturbed hematopoiesis, it is possible that HSC performances during steady state conditions of laboratory animals differ from normal human HSC behaviors, as pathogens, environment, and lifestyle conditions likely repeatedly challenge human hematopoiesis throughout life.

Advancements in single cell techniques, including sequencing (82), epigenetic evaluation (83, 84), and cell fate tracing (85, 86), allow for discrimination of regulatory patterns within populations that have previously been overshadowed by heterogeneity. Such distinct purity is many times not required during actual clinical therapeutic applications. They could however be necessary to uncover underlying regulatory mechanisms, as well as for the development and evaluation of new therapies. Combinations of different experimental methodologies, together with the ever-increasing bioinformatics tools and programs developed, will likely contribute extensively to new advancements within the hematopoietic field.

## Humans Versus Mice

Ethical and technical constraints hinder application of numerous experimental techniques on human cells. Consequently, most basic research is conducted using model organisms with human similarities. One of the most important advantages with model organisms is their permissiveness for complex genetic manipulations. Such manipulations can be utilized to study e.g. specific gene functions in developmental- and tissue-specific contexts. Mice are commonly used in hematopoietic research, and are highly comparable to humans regarding genetics, anatomical organization, and physiology (71, 87). Differences between humans and mice, including size, lifespan, environmental exposure, and biological variation, result in both advantages and disadvantages for experimental research (**Table 1**).

Hematologic research is often conducted with inbred mice showing very limited biological variance (71, 88). As a consequence, common traits are relatively easily and quickly discovered when using low quantities of mice. Inbred mice do however not capture the biological variation that is observed among humans. Moreover, the relatively sterile conditions that laboratory mice are housed and bred under do not reflect the normal exposure to pathogens that humans encounter, which constitutes another constraint. The shorter lifespans (71) (around 3-4 years) and quick reproduction (88) of mice serve as enormous advantages for many

#### Table 1.

Examples of benefits and pitfalls connected to the usage of mice as surrogate organisms for human biology.

	Benefits	Pitfalls
Variance	<ul> <li>Common traits are discovered faster and more easily</li> <li>Reduced quantity</li> </ul>	• Does not capture human biological variance
Lifespan	<ul> <li>Accelerated aging</li> <li>Multiple generations in a relatively short time</li> <li>Quick reproduction</li> </ul>	• Distinct metabolic rates and lifetime turnover of cells
Genetics	• Allows for genetic modification that are unfeasible in humans	All murine genes do not have or are not fully comparable to human counterparts
Housing	<ul> <li>Small → easy handling and transportation</li> <li>Relatively cheap</li> </ul>	Distinct environmental exposure to microorganisms

biological questions. Despite their short lifespans, mice develop aging phenotypes, which is greatly advantageous in aging research. However, human cells exhibit several-fold lower metabolic rates than mouse cells (87, 88). Human cells also have shorter telomeres (discussed further in "**Protective and Causative HSC Aging Mechanisms**"), and are thus more sensitive to replication-induced senescence (87). As human cells have higher lifetime turnover than mouse cells, the shorter telomere length may be a protective mechanism to avoid accumulation of replication-induced damage on proliferating cells (87, 88), and could play a more influential role in human than murine HSC aging.

Some differences between humans and mice can be overcome by generation of transgenic mouse models where human genes are introduced directly into the mouse genome (such as introduction of human-specific receptors that allow for infection with viruses that are normally not supported in mice) (89). When mouse models still fail to capture human cell behaviors, xenograft models, which allow for transplantation of cells between species, can be utilized. So-called *humanized mouse models* are engineered to allow for human reconstitution (90, 91), and are frequently used in experimental settings where *in vivo* behaviors of human HSCs are investigated. The bone marrow milieu in these animals differ however vastly from that in humans, and hematopoiesis is severely skewed and does not allow for long-term output of all mature lineages (90). Despite all constraints with humanized mouse models, they do allow for *in vivo* evaluation of some otherwise unmanageable experimental procedures on human cells.

In conclusion, utilization of mice as model organisms in experimental research is highly advantageous. Complex genetic alterations are achievable and evaluated using mice in ways that are impossible in humans (87). Not all findings are however translatable to the human system, and species-conserved patterns should therefore be addressed before utilizing mouse models. It should be noted though that incorrect interpretation of mouse experiments has been highlighted as a contributing cause of mouse-to-human irreproducibility (92), which may indicate that mice and humans are more similar than what is suggested in some translational research.

### Hematopoietic Stem Cell Heterogeneity

Mouse single cell experiments have shown extensive heterogeneity within the HSC compartment with regards to e.g. lineage potential, self-renewal capacity, and cycling status (Figure 6). Such investigations have also revealed that robust self-renewal potential is not necessarily linked to balanced multi-lineage output. Durable serial reconstitution capacity of adult HSCs is however highly linked to slow proliferation kinetics (75, 93) (Figure 6). Several markers, including Hoxb5<sup>+</sup> (94), CD150<sup>high</sup> (94, 95), reactive oxygen species (ROS)<sup>low</sup> (96), CD41<sup>+</sup> (39), Sca-1<sup>high</sup> (75, 97), c-Kit<sup>low</sup> (75, 98), Tie2<sup>+</sup> (99), CD229<sup>-/low</sup> (42) and CD61<sup>+</sup> (100), have all shown enrichments of cells with more robust reconstitution potentials within the proposed HSC compartment. Enrichments of HSCs with high reconstitution abilities using  $ROS^{low}$  (96) and  $Tie2^+$  (99) phenotypes are both associated with mitochondrial functionality - ROS<sup>low</sup> for obvious reasons as ROS are metabolic by-products produced in the mitochondria during energy metabolism (discussed further in "Protective and Causative HSC Aging Mechanisms"), but also Tie2<sup>+</sup> HSCs since these cells represent a subgroup within candidate HSCs with higher levels of mitochondria clearance (mitophagy) (99).

Numerous studies have also observed differences in the ability of single mouse HSCs to produce distinct mature lineages (Figure 6). Lineage-bias within the phenotypical HSC population has been proposed to arise when HSCs differentiate and commit to lineage fates at so early stages that extensive self-renewal potentials are still present and HSC-defining phenotypical markers have not vet been altered (101). Markers that are used to enrich for HSCs with high reconstitution abilities often also enrich for cells that show myeloid-biased (39-41), or balanced (41, 99) lineage output, while lymphoid-biased HSCs (41, 42) have lower reconstitution potentials (Figure 6). These findings have spawned a theory of that lymphoidbiased HSCs are differentiated progeny of LT-HSCs. It has also been suggested that lineage-biases within candidate HSCs arise when lineage committed progenitors return to stem cell states (102). HSC subtypes with distinct lineage preferences can also be subdivided into  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ , and  $\delta$  cells.  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  HSCs have robust serial transplantation abilities, and present with myeloid-biased and balanced lineage outputs, respectively.  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  cells, only reconstitute primary, but not secondary, recipients and are lymphoid-biased (41). It should be noted that hematopoiesis per se is myeloid-biased as extensively higher myeloid than



#### Figure 6. Mouse HSC heterogeneity.

HSCs are heterogeneous with regards to e.g. lineage potential, and proliferation status. Ly-bi = Lymphoid-biased HSCs, predominantly generating lymphoid progeny. Bal = Balanced HSCs, producing balanced outputs of myeloid and lymphoid cells. My-bi = Myeloid-biased HSCs, mainly generating myeloid progeny. Pt-bi = Platelet-biased HSCs, primed to generate cells of the megakaryocytic lineage.

lymphoid progeny is generated (78), which is presumably linked the short-lived nature and higher replenishment demand of myeloid cells.

With emergence of new models allowing for evaluation of donor-derived platelets in competitive transplantation settings came discoveries of platelet-biased cells within the HSC compartment (**Figure 6**). These include platelet-committed progenitors (38, 61), but also platelet-biased von Willebrand factor (vWF)-positive LT-HSCs (36) that can be activated upon acute platelet needs. High expression of c-Kit is also correlate to platelet-bias within the HSCs compartment. These c-Kit<sup>high</sup> cells show increased platelet production at early time points after transplantation, while c-Kit<sup>low</sup> HSCs are responsible for the majority of platelet production at later time points (98), indicating that c-Kit<sup>high</sup> HSCs are activated during acute platelet needs.

## Hematopoiesis Through Ontogeny

Hematopoiesis changes extensively during the course of an individual's lifetime. During embryonic development, hematopoietic activity is present in several different regions and with varying output. Although adult hematopoiesis is mainly restricted to one region, the bone marrow, essential alterations still occur with increasing age.

### **Emergence of hematopoiesis**

Embryonic hematopoiesis is roughly divided into two waves. Two models explaining the emerging hematopoiesis and the two waves have been hypothesized. In the first model, the two hematopoietic waves are developed separately and independently of each other. In the second model, cells developed during the second wave originate from cells that were developed during the primitive wave (103). The first wave of hematopoiesis, also referred to as *primitive*, or *transient*, *hematopoiesis*, is transitory and occurs during embryonic



#### Figure 7. Sites with hematopoietic activity during development.

Hematopoietic activity first occurs in the yolk sac during very early development, after which production of hematopoietic cells can be found in the placenta, vitelline/umbilical arteries, and in the AGM region. Hematopoietic cells then seed the fetal liver, in which a massive expansion of HSCs occurs. From the fetal liver, HSCs migrate to the thymus, spleen, and ultimately the bone marrow, which is the major hematopoietic organ during adult life.

days 7-11 (E7-11) in mice (104). Transient hematopoiesis emerges from the extraembryonic yolk sac at E7.0 (105, 106), where primitive forms of nucleated RBCs (104) and macrophages (106) are generated. At E8.25, erythro-myeloid progenitors (EMPs) emerge (106, 107). These then migrate to the liver (**Figure 7**), where they generate enucleated RBCs and fetal monocytes (106, 108).

The primitive hematopoietic wave is followed by a second wave of hematopoiesis, which is termed *definitive hematopoiesis*. This wave is characterized by the presence of definitive HSCs (d-HSCs), capable of sustaining durable hematopoiesis following transplantation. D-HSCs mature from pre-HSCs, which can develop into cells capable of long-term reconstitution in NK-deficient Rag $2\gamma c^{-/-}$  mice but not in wild-type (WT) mice if cultured with thrombopoietin (TPO) and stromal cells prior to transplantation (109, 110). The fetal liver does not contain *de novo* production of d-HSCs but is nevertheless a site for massive expansion of d-HSCs (109). D-HSCs can be found in the fetal liver at around E11.5 (111), after which the extensive expansion immediately occurs. As very few d-HSCs are found in the fetus before liver seeding, it is believed that the rapid expansion of d-HSCs in the liver is initiated primarily by maturation of seeded pre-HSCs (109). Prior to liver seeding, some d-HSC have however been observed in several areas, including the volk sac (109, 111), vitelline/umbilical arteries (112), placenta (111), and the aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM) region (109, 111, 112). From the fetal liver, hematopoietic cells then migrate to the spleen, thymus, and ultimately the bone marrow, where they reside throughout adult life (110, 113) (Figure 7).

It is still under debate where the d-HSCs that seed the bone marrow and ultimately give rise to adult hematopoiesis originate, or if several sources exist in parallel. Lack of source-specific factors (103), as well as the early onset of circulation, beginning at E8.25 (114), complicate investigations of d-HSC origin. Fate mapping experiments suggest that the yolk sac is contributing to at least a fraction of adult hematopoiesis (115, 116), but does not rule out parallel sources. Several other studies support the notion of *de novo* d-HSC production in the AGM region (117-119).
## Adult hematopoiesis

During postnatal, *adult hematopoiesis*, blood cell production is mainly maintained within the bone marrow. At around 2-3 weeks after birth, mouse HSCs switch to adult behaviors. Compared to fetal HSCs, adult HSCs are more quiescent and demonstrate lower reconstitution potentials upon transplantation. Fetal and adult HSCs also show differences in lineage output and in response to external stimuli (120-123). The fetal-to-adult HSC switch occurs concomitant with decreased expression of the transcriptional regulator Sox17, which is required for development and maintenance of fetal, but not adult HSCs (124). Increased expression of the transcription factor C/EBP- $\alpha$  has also been implicated in the switch, where it controls HSC cycling/quiescence (125). Other regulators involved in the developmental switch include Bmi-1 (126), Ezh2 (127), and the Lin28-let-7-Hmga2 pathway (128-130).

Several mature blood cell subsets have shown to primarily or even restrictively arise from fetal hematopoietic sources, and cannot be generated from adult HSCs. Such cells include several tissue-resident macrophages, including microglia (in brain), Langerhans cells (in epidermis), and Kupffer cells (in liver) (131), as well as B-1a cells (132), and certain T cells (128). The majority of the tissue-resident macrophages originates from the yolk sac (108). As fetal and adult HSCs comprise very different functionalities, careful consideration should be applied when selecting cellular source for experimental studies. This applies not least to human HSCs, where CB-derived HSCs are often selected over bone marrow-derived HSCs due to their high availability and superior engraftment potential in humanized mouse models.

### Aging hematopoiesis

Aging typically presents with tissue function impairments, and diminished capacity to maintain homeostasis (133). Hematopoietic aging further associates with e.g. adaptive immune response impairments (134, 135), clonal hematopoiesis (136, 137), and increased incidence of several hematological complications, including anemia (138) and myeloid malignancies (139). At least some age-associated mouse hematopoietic phenotypes have been linked to alterations within the primitive HSC compartment. Aged mouse HSCs are also increased in frequency (140, 141), have impaired reconstitution capacities (141), and show



#### Figure 8. Shared characteristics of human and mouse HSC aging.

Aging of HSCs associates with increased HSC frequencies, but impaired reconstitution capacities. Furthermore, aged HSCs present with myeloid-biased output behaviors, that are presumably linked to increased expression of myeloid-specific genes and downregulated expression of lymphoid-specific genes.

increased myeloid-to-lymphoid output ratio (primarily caused by reduced lymphoid output) (141-143). Although strain-specific, increased mouse HSC frequencies correlate with increased HSC numbers (140) (Figure 10). It is plausible to assume that the increased frequency of HSCs at least partially represents compensatory means aimed at rescuing impaired functionalities. Moreover, transcriptional studies have revealed that myeloid specification genes are upregulated in aged mouse HSCs, while genes associated with the lymphoid lineage are downregulated (141). Genes involved in DNA repair, chromatin organization, cell cycle, and DNA replication also show differential expression patterns between young and aged mouse HSCs (144, 145) (Figure 8). Aging of human HSCs is much less studied but has reported some similar phenotypes, including increased HSC frequencies, increased myeloid-to-lymphoid output, and altered transcriptional expression patterns of lineage-associated genes (146) (Figure 8). Conflicting results have however also been reported (147). Paper III in this thesis aimed to clarify age-associated changes of human HSPCs, and compared these to alterations in mouse HSPCs to identify species-conserved agerelated patterns.

# Protective and Causative HSC Aging Mechanisms

The long-lived nature of HSCs makes them plausible targets for transformations that can drive aging phenotypes and malignant initiation. Several elements have been suggested to contribute to HSCs aging, including accumulation of destructive cellular products and damage, mitochondrial dysfunction, epigenetic alterations, proliferative exhaustion, and environmental influences. HSCs however harbor several mechanisms that protect against damage accumulation. Proposed mechanisms of the former and latter are discussed below.

## **Protective mechanisms**

Most adult HSCs reside in a non-dividing *quiescent* cell cycle state (140, 148) and are only occasionally recruited into cell cycle. The quiescent nature protects HSCs against cell cycle-induced damage, such as cell cycle stress, DNA replication errors, and senescence (**Figure 9**). However, quiescent HSCs rely on the more error-prone non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) mechanism for reparation of DNA double-strand breaks (DSBs) (149, 150), as the less error-prone homologous repair (HR) machinery requires cell cycling. HSCs with high proliferation history are more likely to undergo differentiation (27) and lose long-term reconstitution capacity (75, 93) compared to HSCs that have undergone fewer cell divisions. Stress-induced exit of HSCs from quiescent states is linked to increased metabolic activity, ROS production, and generation of DSBs (151).

To further minimize ROS-induced damage, HSCs rely on anaerobic *glycolysis* rather than oxidative phosphorylation for mitochondrial energy production (152). Glycolysis generates less ATP, but also less ROS (**Figure 9**). Furthermore, human mammary stem-like cells *separate mitochondria asymmetrically* during proliferation so that differentiating daughter cells receive higher proportions of old mitochondria than daughter cells that maintain stem cell characteristics (153) – a feature that is potentially also shared by other stem cells, including HSCs. Additional protection from oxidative stress is provided by *low oxygen concentrations* in the bone marrow environment where HSCs reside (154, 155) (Figure 9).

**Telomeres** are repetitive non-coding sequences at the ends of linear chromosomes, which serve as protective elements during replication. Due to the inability of DNA polymerases to replicate linear chromosomes to the very ends, DNA chromosomes shorten during each cell division. Telomeres hinder attrition of the cellular genome (**Figure 9**), and prevent against interpretation of chromosome ends as DSBs. When telomeres reach critical lengths, apoptosis or senescence is induced. Extension of telomeres through activation of the telomere-building enzyme telomerase is a known hallmark of cancer cells, and required for indefinite proliferation. Some stem cells, including HSCs, also demonstrate slight telomerase



#### Figure 9. HSC protective mechanisms and features they protect against.

HSCs harbor several protective mechanisms that prevent accumulation of damage. Telomeres protect against attrition of the cellular genome, while the quiescent nature of HSCs protects against cell cycle-induced damages, including replication errors and generation of ROS. HSCs also rely on glycolysis for energy production, which results in lower ROS production compared to oxidative phosphorylation. HSCs are additionally protected against oxidative stress by the low oxygen environment in the bone marrow that the HSCs reside in.

activity (156), which may be a means to reduce telomere shortening in long-lived proliferating cells.

### **Clonality and aging**

Several studies have demonstrated transcriptional alterations during aging of HSCs. As mentioned earlier, these changes include upregulation of genes involved in myeloid specification, while lymphoid-specification genes are downregulated on a population basis (141, 146) (**Figure 10**). Such findings suggest that the age-associated increased myeloid-to-lymphoid output ratio is linked to changes occurring in the HSC compartment. Two hypotheses have been suggested to explain transcriptional alterations in aging HSCs. The first hypothesis is based on *clonal evolution*, where alterations in gene expression patterns occur within individual HSCs. In the second theory, called *clonal composition shift*, the composition of functionally different HSC clones is altered through relative expansion/reduction of different subsets. Both of these suggestions would lead to overall transcriptional changes. It is likely that both mechanisms contribute to the aging phenotype. In support of age-associated changes in HSC clonal composition are findings showing that the frequencies of myeloid-biased (39) and platelet-

biased (157) HSC clones increase with age, while lymphoid-biased clones decrease (158) (Figure 10). Aged HSCs not only demonstrate overall impairments in repopulation activity, but also on per cell bases when HSCs are separated into myeloid-biased and lymphoid-biased HSCs (159), indicating that also clonal evolution contributes to HSC aging (Figure 10).

Myeloid-biased HSCs show superior reconstitution potentials compared to lymphoid-biased HSCs upon transplantation (39-42). Therefore, it would be plausible to assume that clonal selection over time would lead to clonal composition alterations in the HSC pool in favor of myeloid-biased clones. Acquired mutations may however also provide favorable behaviors and trigger expansion or increased survival of individual HSC clones. Age-associated accumulation of specific somatic mutations in human peripheral blood cells indicate that aging is associated with clonal hematopoiesis (160, 161), where decreasing numbers of clones are responsible for hematopoiesis. A study of a 115year old woman suggested that her hematopoiesis was sustained by only two clones (162). Around 80 % of the mutations found in clonal hematopoiesis are in genes connected to epigenetic regulation or RNA splicing (160), suggesting that such alterations are involved in expansion advantages. Of these, mutations in the epigenetic regulators DNMT3, TET2, and ASXL1 are most common (161). Although clonal hematopoiesis is linked to increased risks of developing hematologic malignancies, the majority of individuals with clonal hematopoiesis never acquire any of these disorders (161).

Further compositional changes in aging mouse HSCs include decreased frequency of cells with polar distribution of laminar proteins. Loss of such polarity is linked to increased activity and scattered distribution of Cdc42 (a small RhoGTPase known to regulate cell polarity, including actin and tubulin distribution). Pharmacological inhibition of Cdc42 in aged HSCs increases the frequency of polarized cells and ameliorates several age-related phenotypes, including the impaired reconstitution capacity and lineage skewing (163) (**Figure 10**).

Finally, it has also been suggested that the compositional distribution of aging HSCs is altered with regards to the frequency of HSC that are actively cycling. Whether or not the HSC cycling state is altered during aging is still under debate however, as lower (143, 146, 164), higher (165), and more similar (75, 140) frequencies of quiescence in aged HSCs have all been reported.

# **Genetics and epigenetics**

Accumulation of genomic damage has been suggested to drive HSC aging. Indeed, mouse models with defective DNA repair mechanisms present with several HSC aging-like phenotypes, including decreased self-renewal, impaired reconstitution ability, and increased apoptosis, although typically not with increased myeloid-to-lymphoid output ratio (166). These conditions often ultimately result in LT-HSC exhaustion (151, 167). DNA damage is usually measured indirectly by the presence of phosphorylated histone H2AX ( $\gamma$ -H2AX) foci, which are phosphorylated at DSBs during recruitment of repair proteins. Observations based on such foci have suggested increased DNA damage in aging HSCs (167, 168) (Figure 10), thus providing a link between aging and DNA damage accumulation. Phosphorylation of H2AX can however also occur during replication stress, which was found in a study by Flach *et al.* to be the main cause of age-associated accumulation of  $\gamma$ -H2AX foci (169). Another study suggested that although DSBs increase in aging HSCs, they are robustly repaired when the cells enter cell cycle (170), which is in contrast to studies showing that stressinduced HSC cell cycle entry results in accumulation of DNA damage (151, 171).

Rejuvenation of aged HSCs by passage through induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) states has demonstrated that changes in DNA sequence per se are dispensable for normal murine HSC aging (172). In this study, old mouse HSCs were reprogrammed into iPSCs from which new mice were subsequently generated. HSCs generated from the iPSCs did not exhibit aging phenotypes (172), indicating that epigenetic components rather than changes in DNA sequence drive HSC aging. These experiments do however not rule out that DNA damage responses (DDRs) induced by accumulated DNA damage are involved in HSC aging. DNA damage checkpoints evoked by DNA damage can result in cell cycle arrest, senescence and apoptosis (173), which may all contribute to the aging HSC phenotype. In support of this are findings showing that several age-induced HSC features, including myeloid/lymphoid output skewing and reduced reconstitution potential, are ameliorated upon deletion of the DDR-associated protein Periodic circadian clock 2 (Per2) (174) that normally increases in aging HSCs (preferentially in lymphoid-biased HSCs).

The term *epigenetics* describes patterns of gene expression or phenotype that are inheritable independently of DNA sequence, and include specific modifications to the DNA itself, including DNA methylation or hydroxymethylation, and to histones, such as methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitylation, and sumovlation (175, 176). Changes in the epigenetic landscape have been suggested to influence age-associated alterations of self-renewal and differentiation (53, 144, 177). The expression of chromatin modifiers is altered in the aged HSC compartment (141, 145) (Figure 10), and includes decreased expression of the chromatin organizer Special AT-rich sequence-binding protein 1 (Satb1) (178). Overexpression of Satb1 in aged HSCs improves in vitro lymphoid generation (178), demonstrating involvement of Satb1 in the aging HSC phenotype. Chromatin modifiers are also linked to regulation of DDR, telomere maintenance, and cellular metabolism (175), thus connecting epigenetics to several suggested aging mechanisms. Changes in the epigenetic landscape of aging HSCs further include increased DNA methylation at several lymphoid and erythroid loci (179) – a marking that is typically associated with gene repression. Moreover, the activating histone modification trimethylation of histone H3 at lysine 4 (H3K4me3) is increased at genes associated with HSC self-renewal (144). It has been suggested that old HSCs promote self-renewal over differentiation in a process that involves reduced TGF- $\beta$  signaling (144). Single-cell RNA sequencing studies of young and aged HSCs have demonstrated that relatively fewer aged cells are engaged in differentiation trajectories (53), agreeing with reduced differentiation potentials. Together, these results clearly allocate a role for epigenetics in the aging HSC phenotype. The previously-mentioned successful resetting of the aged HSC epigenetic landscape demonstrate however that these changes can be reversed (172). It should be noted that epigenetic profiling of young and aged HSCs has due to technical constraints only been conducted on pools of HSCs, where contribution of compositional change is not assessed. Furthermore, although the iPSC-induced epigenetic re-setting of aged HSC caused rejuvenation (172), it is possible that functions associated with the iPSC state or elsewhere during the developmental progression contribute to HSC rejuvenation and may not be fully recapitulated solely by direct conversion of old-to-young epigenetic landscapes.

**Telomere attrition**, as mentioned previously, ultimately results in senescence or apoptosis, and is yet another suggested mechanism for HSC aging (**Figure 10**). Telomere deficiency-mediated syndromes, such as dyskeratosis congenita, present with premature aging-like phenotypes (180), which supports influence of telomeres on aging. Moreover, telomerase-deficient mouse HSCs show impairments in repopulation capacity, self-renewal, and proliferation, as well as exhibit increased apoptosis (167). Telomerase activation does however not abolish

serial transplantation exhaustion of HSCs (181), which contradicts contribution of telomere shortening to normal mouse HSC aging. In further support of a dispensable role for telomere shortening in normal mouse HSC aging, is the observation that laboratory mice have several-fold longer telomeres than humans (182), but still present with similar age-associated HSC impairments. Telomere attrition-induced responses may however play more influential roles for human than for mouse HSC aging.

## **Mitochondria and ROS**

In the "*mitochondrial theory of aging*", aging phenotypes are driven by ROSinduced cellular damage (183). Mitochondrial genome is, unlike the nuclear genome, not protected by histones, and the polymerase responsible for replication of the mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) is more error-prone than nuclear DNAreplicating polymerase (184). This has led to a theory of a vicious cycle where ROS-induced mitochondrial damage causes defective mitochondria that in turn drive further production of ROS. Given the close proximity of ROS and mitochondria, and an age-related increase in ROS levels (**Figure 10**), this is a plausible theory. However, as mutations of mtDNA have shown to cause little to no increase in ROS production, this theory has been questioned (185). Furthermore, although mouse models with defective mtDNA repair machinery accumulate mtDNA mutations and present with aging-like hematopoietic phenotypes, these show distinct mechanisms compared to normal aging (186). The amount of mutations in these models is also considerable higher than in the normal aging setting (187).

It was recently demonstrated that aged murine HSCs contain higher levels of ROS compared to young HSCs (**Figure 10**), which is caused by both increased production of ROS and diminished anti-oxidant pathways (143). As mentioned previously, lower levels of ROS in HSCs associate with increased reconstitution capacities (96), thus suggesting a link between age-associated increase in ROS and the reduced HSC function. It should be mentioned however that though ROS can unequivocally be harmful, it is also involved in cell signaling and stem cell fate regulation (188, 189). Further indications of ROS involvement in aging are provided by studies showing that loss of the signaling transduction protein SH2B (Lnk) in flies protects against oxidative stress, and results in lifespan extension (190). Interestingly, Lnk-defective aged mouse HSCs also display improved

functions, including higher reconstitution potentials and more balanced lineage output patterns (191) (Figure 10).

Alterations of mitochondrial metabolism have frequently been implicated in studies where increased longevity is achieved. These studies typically involve factors of the mitochondrial respiration machinery, stress response machinery, and/or antioxidant factors. However, the majority of these studies are performed in veast, worms, or flies (192, 193), and results have been very conflicting (193-198). To complicate matters further, tissue-, timing-, and dose-dependent effects have also been observed (193, 199, 200). Surprisingly, several studies have observed lifespan extensions upon mitochondrial stress, which is presumably caused by activation of the mitochondrial unfolded protein response (UPR<sup>mt</sup>), and/or altered insulin signaling (199, 201). Mouse lifespan is generally not affected by antioxidant alterations (202, 203), although positive effects have occasionally been reported (204). Circulating serum levels of insulin-growth factor-1 (IGF-1) decrease in aging humans (205), which is suggested to influence aging phenotypes. Contradictory however, reduction of IGF-1 in mice increases the maximum lifespan (206). Furthermore, reduction of IGF-1 levels induced by prolonged fasting of aged mice improve HSC behaviors with regard to reconstitution potential and lineage skewing (207). The mammalian target of Rapamycin (mTOR) is a nutrient-sensing protein that is activated by insulin signaling (208) and is upregulated with age. Inhibition of this pathway in mice ameliorates aging HSC phenotypes, including the effects on HSC numbers, reconstitution capacity, and myeloid skewing (209) (Figure 10).

Possibly also connected to mitochondrial function and aging are sirtuins, which are a class of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD)<sup>+</sup>-dependent proteins with deacetylase or ADP-ribosyl transferase activity. Sirtuins are found in the nucleus, cytoplasm, and mitochondria. Both NAD<sup>+</sup> and sirtuin activities decrease with age (**Figure 10**), indicating a potential link to HSC aging. Sirtuin activation has been implicated in organismal longevity, although a lot of controversy has been reported here also (210). Nevertheless, upregulation of SIRT3 in old mouse HSCs decreases ROS levels and improves regeneration capacity (211) (**Figure 10**). SIRT1 (212) and SIRT7 (213) have also shown involvements in aging-like phenotypes of HSCs, although SIRT1 has shown conflicting results (214).

Taken together, factors involved in mitochondrial and ROS activities appear to be very complexly regulated, difficult to interpret, and perhaps not species-conserved.



# **Aging HSCs**



- Increased HSC frequencies
- Changes of the epigenetic landscape and expression of epigenetic components\*
- Increased expression of:
  - -myeloid specification genes
  - -DNA damage and stress response genes\*
- Decreased expression of:
  - -lymphoid specification genes
- Decreased reconstitution potential
- Decreased lymphoid output
- Decreased differentiation
- Increased mTOR activity\*
- Increased DNA damage
- Telomere attrition
- Increased ROS\*
- Decreased sirtuin activity\*
- Reduced TGF-B signaling

#### **Clonal-based changes**

- Increased numbers
- Clonal hematopoiesis
- Increased frequency of myeloid-biased HSCs
- Increased frequency of platelet-biased HSCs
- Decreased frequency of lymphoid-biased HSCs
- Decreased reconstitution potential
- Decreased lymphoid output
- Loss of cell polarity\*

#### Figure 10. Population-based and clonal-based alterations of aging HSCs.

Numerous changes have been identified in the aging HSC compartment. Clonal studies have revealed that many of these are impacted by alterations in the clonal composition of HSCs. Additional studies are required to uncover compositional contribution to several HSC aging effects that have not yet been addressed on a per cell level. Such distinction is necessary for the understanding of underlying factors that drive HSC aging. \*Rejuvenated/improved functions of aged HSCs when counteracted.

On this note, it is worth mentioning that interventions aimed at altering metabolic activity is predicted to show little to no effect in non-obese human populations as human cells are much more metabolically stable than the cells in the animals where rejuvenation effects were observed (215).

#### Niche

It was early suggested that HSCs reside in specific environments that support HSC functions (29). These locations are termed HSC niches and are still debated as technical limitations hinder simultaneous visualization and functional assessment of HSCs in the bone marrow environment. Two different niches are generally proposed – the *endosteal niche* that lines trabecular bones and mainly supports quiescence, and the *perivascular niche* of the sinusoidal blood vessels that

regulates proliferation and differentiation of HSCs (216). Both cells of hematopoietic origin, such as megakaryocytes (217-220), monocytes/macrophages (221), regulatory T cells (Tregs) (222), and osteoclasts (223), as well as of non-hematopoietic origin, including osteoblasts (224), endothelial cells (225), stromal cells (226), and adipocytes (227, 228), have been implicated as niche cells important for HSC regulation. Although these cells have shown to be influential on HSC behavior, less is known about their alterations and potential involvements in HSC aging (229).

Several aging phenotypes are indisputable intrinsically imprinted as demonstrated by recapitulation of aging characteristics upon transplantation of aged HSCs to young hosts (141, 230). However, slight myeloid skewing is also observed upon transplantation of young bone marrow cells to aged recipients, indicating that also extrinsic factors contribute to HSC aging (230). The myeloid skewing inflicted by the environmental niche has been linked to increased levels of the inflammatory cytokine RANTES in the aged bone marrow (not caused by increased expression within LSK cells), which impair T cell potential (231). Megakarvocytes are found in close proximity to HSCs in the bone marrow (217-219), thus suggesting a direct involvement of megakaryocytes in HSC regulation. Megakaryocytes regulate HSC guiescence and expansion in a process where TGF- $\beta$  (218) and CXCL4 (219) are influential. As myeloid-biased and lymphoid-biased HSCs exhibit distinct responses to TGF- $\beta$  (40), age-associated reduction in TGF- $\beta$  signaling in the HSC pool (144) (Figure 10) may be caused by altered megakaryocyte-HSC interactions. Altered stimulation of TGF- $\beta$  signaling may be influential on clonal composition changes in the HSC compartment, but it is also possible that the reduced overall TGF- $\beta$  signaling is a consequence, rather than a causation, of compositional changes. Environmental involvement in HSC aging is further suggested by age-related functional defects of bone marrow stromal cells (232, 233). Stromal cells expressing the P450 retinoid-inactivating enzyme 26B1 (CYP26) are important for regulation of self-renewal in human CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> hematopoietic cells by inhibiting retinoic acid (RA) signaling (which otherwise induce differentiation) (234). Changes of stromal cells could thus be linked to alterations in self-renewal capacity in aging HSCs. Moreover, the age-associated increased adipogenesis (235) could potentially also influence HSC functionality as adipocyte-conditioned medium has shown to increase myeloid and decrease lymphoid output from bone marrow cells in cell cultures (228). In conclusion, several potential involvements of the bone marrow niche to HSC aging have been suggested, although direct influences are yet to be demonstrated.

# Inflamm-aging

Aging associates with a chronic, low-grade inflammation, referred to as immunosenescence or "inflamm-aging", concomitant with increased circulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Included in the immunosenescence concept are also age-associated immune response impairments and increased autoimmune susceptibility (236). There is thus indisputably at least a correlative link between inflammation and aging. HSPCs respond directly to infection, in which ST-HSCs and MPPs produce numerous amounts of inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$  (143, 237). Several studies suggest initial proliferative effects of HSCs upon different inflammation provocations, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation (238), or interferon signaling (151, 239, 240). The increased proliferation is then followed by reduced self-renewal ability upon long-term exposure. Aging and inflammation-induced HSC phenotypes also contain other similar features, including myeloid-biased output productions (238, 241). Together, these findings are indicative of a potential inflammatory contribution to HSC aging. Inflammation-induced effects could possibly compose much higher contributions to normal human aging phenotypes than what is captured in the relative sterile steady state housing environments of laboratory mice.

### Senescence

Senescence is a state of irreversible growth arrest that is accompanied by metabolic alterations and secretion of damaging factors referred to as senescenceassociated secretory phenotype (SASP). Senescence can be trigged through many different stressors, such as telomere attrition, ROS, and interferon exposure. These stressors evoke different pathways and definite markers for senescence-induction are therefore lacking. Nevertheless, frequent markers used for indication of senescence include  $p16^{Ink4a}$ , and expression of senescence-associated  $\beta$ -galactosidase (242). Senescent cells accumulate with age in several tissues (143, 243). Clearance of senescent cells ameliorates age-associated degeneration (244, 245), suggesting an impact of senescent cells on aging. Treatment of mice with ABT236 (an inhibitor of the anti-apoptotic proteins BCL-2 and BCL-xL), removes senescent cells and mitigates age-related reconstitution impairment and lineage skewing of HSCs (245). Clearance of  $p16^{lnk4a}$ -expressing cells in mice also extends lifespans (244), but hematopoietic effects were not evaluated in this study.  $p16^{lnk4a}$  expression has been reported in old LT-HSC, and  $p16^{lnk4}$  KO mice show increased frequencies of HSCs (246), suggesting a role for  $p16^{lnk4}$  in HSC aging. Such findings were however challenged in subsequent investigations, which found no expression of  $p16^{lnk4a}$  in either young nor aged HSCs (247), indicating that potential beneficial effects on HSCs from removal of senescent cells are likely not caused by removal of  $p16^{lnk4}$ -positive HSCs.

## **Aging summary**

The global average lifespan in humans is continuously increasing (248), and as a consequence so are age-related pathologies. Improved knowledge of ageassociated alterations will most definitely contribute to further development of treatments involved in promoting continuously increasing health spans. Several mechanisms have been suggested to drive aging phenotypes in HSCs. Many of these pathways also interact, thus complicating distinction between causal and correlative effects. Aging-accompanied functional alterations of HSCs are largely intrinsically determined, as transplantation of aged HSCs to young recipients recapitulates aging phenotypes (141). Extrinsic components have however also been identified. It is important to note that "normal" aging mechanisms may differ from aging-like phenotypes. Furthermore, separating aging-*inducing* mechanisms from aging-induced mechanisms is challenging, but required to understand the complicated system of interacting factors that drive and execute aging phenotypes. Nevertheless, successful rejuvenation attempts, including epigenetic re-setting, repolarization of tubular protein distribution, and removal of senescent cells, indicate that aging phenotypes are not eternally fixed, but can be reversed, and bring hope to development of not only protective, but also restorative therapies.

# **Discussion of Articles**

# Article I

Frequency determination of rare populations by flow cytometry: a hematopoietic stem cell perspective.

Rundberg Nilsson A, Bryder D, Pronk CJ.

Cytometry A. 2013 Aug;83(8):721-7. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.22324. Epub 2013 Jul 9. Review.

**Aim:** To evaluate crucial aspects that can influence analysis and interpretation of flow cytometry experiments when studying infrequent cell populations, such as HSCs.

Flow cytometry-based experimental methods are frequently used in HSC research. Today's instrumental advancements and fluorochrome availability allow for increasing numbers of markers being separated. Such advancements are accompanied by increased demands for sample preparation and analysis. We therefore in this report set out to highlight some important aspects in connection to this, particularly for analysis of very infrequent cell populations, such as HSCs. We also present a new 17-parameter combination for simultaneous evaluation of an extensive number of mature and immature hematopoietic cell populations, including HSCs, MEPs, GMPs, CLPs, CD11b<sup>+</sup> myeloid cells, CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, in one human bone marrow sample.

First, we discuss the utilization of controls, including biological, gate-setting, and compensation controls. We presented internal reference populations (IRPs), that are based on gate-setting according to preexisting knowledge of expression levels in other populations, as a complement to fluorescence-minus-one (FMO) controls. Although differences in autofluorescence and unspecific binding may differ between populations, IRPs are very valuable for capturing of general unspecific binding. Such controls may also spare precious sample when used as replacements for FMOs, particularly if many markers are used. Sparing of valuable samples can

also be achieved by the usage of compensation beads when correcting for spectral overlap. This is of particular advantage when the antibody only binds to a minor fraction of the cells. Although compensation of signals using stained sample cells is sometimes necessary, compensation beads are many times better alternatives.

Multicolor flow cytometry allows for identification of populations that require multiple markers. Increasing the number of different fluorochromes in a sample however also increases spectral overlap and unspecific binding, which may impair the potential to separate signals. Moreover, when analyzing the data of a flow cytometry experiment, it is important to remove unwanted events before analyzing the expression levels of the intended populations. This "pre-gating" allows for exclusion of e.g. dead, clumped, and undesired cells. Undesired cells can preferentially be identified by antibodies conjugated to the same fluorophore, a so called "dump channel", which minimizes the number of different fluorophores used. Analysis of flow cytometry data would preferentially also include at least one positive marker for each analyzed population to separate the intended cells from other negative events. Acquiring of a sufficient number of events is also crucial to distinguish true positive signals from false positive events and to establish proper estimates of frequency levels.

Finally, we discussed how flow cytometry data can be presented to allow for clear insights of the interpretation of the analyzed data. We discuss choice of plot graph, biexponential display, visualization of controls to demonstrate positive *versus* negative signals, and sample comparison alternatives. Contour plots are frequently used and give good overviews of intensity distributions of signals. Dot plots are however more useful when presenting plots/gates with few events, especially when containing scattered outliers whose significance can otherwise be difficult to interpret. Furthermore, visualization of events lying on negative axes by exponential display is key to ensure inclusion of all intended events. When presenting and comparing data, consideration should also be taken to what type of comparison that is most appropriate, whether it is absolute numbers or frequencies, and in the latter case, within what population that is compared.

# Article II

Probing hematopoietic stem cell function using serial transplantation: Seeding characteristics and the impact of stem cell purification.

Rundberg Nilsson A, Pronk CJ, Bryder D.

Exp Hematol. 2015 Sep;43(9):812-7.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2015.05.003. Epub 2015 May 29.

Aim: To evaluate crucial aspects in study design of serial transplantation experiments that may affect interpretation of HSC self-renewal capacity and lineage output.

Serial transplantation of HSCs is the main method used for evaluation of longterm *in vivo* self-renewal ability. Experimental study design however differs between laboratories, and may severely hamper both comparisons of different studies and interpretation of results. To address this matter, we in this study discuss and demonstrate how different experimental parameters, specifically competitive serial transplantation of whole bone marrow (wBM) or FACS-purified HSCs, can affect result interpretation. Based on these results we then propose the outlay of an experimental design that maximizes the possibility to correctly evaluate long-term self-renewal capacity of HSCs. We also highlight the importance of keeping biological replicates separated, as stochastically acquired outlier effects could otherwise be transferred to whole groups of animals.

Most often, wBM isolated from competitively transplanted recipients is used for serial transplantation purposes. Due to the high cellularity in the bone marrow of bones relative to what is required for survival of lethally irradiated recipients, bone marrow is typically isolated from only one or a few bones. By competitively transplanting mice and evaluating donor contribution levels in individual bones of the hind limbs three months after transplantation, we could show that HSC donor chimerism levels fluctuated distinctly among separate bones of individual recipients. This finding indicated that very limited HSC recirculation occurs within the first three months after transplantation, and that chimerism levels obtained by analysis of only a few bones may therefore poorly represent the overall chimerism. Unevenly distributed donor-HSCs may in turn also hamper evaluation of long-term HSC ability if wBM from a limited number of bones is serially transplanted. Re-purification and subsequent transplantation of donor-derived HSCs would

however correct for bone distribution differences, although not for differences in clonal distributions, which is why isolation of cells for serial transplantation from multiple bones is always encouraged.

Another caveat with the usage wBM as a source for serial transplantations is the potential presence of long-lived progenitor and/or mature cells that hinder correct evaluation of HSC output. To approach this concern, we compared long-term mature B, T, and myeloid cell output levels in recipients transplanted with wBM to those transplanted with purified HSCs. Recipients transplanted with wBM exhibited a relative T-lymphoid bias among donor-derived cells, potentially caused by the presence of long-lived lymphoid cells. This finding suggests that non-HSCs can contribute to long-term mature output in transplantation experiments, and lineage output may thus not be reflective of that from the serially transplanted HSCs.

Competitive serial transplantation of re-purified HSCs permit discrimination of short-term effects, seen in primary transplantation, and long-term effects, observed in serial transplantations, while serial transplantation of wBM may transfer shortterm effects into the long-term evaluation, thereby obscuring distinction between these effects. In these cases, wBM transplantations could e.g. aggravate interpretations of conditions in which HSCs initially present with increased proliferation followed by exhaustion. The increased number of HSCs transplanted from primary recipients could then mask per cell HSC impairments and be interpreted as exhibiting similar or even superior long-term performances. Unless long-term outcomes are normalized to those observed in the short-term evaluation. comparisons of mice serially transplanted with wBM may not reflect long-term HSC behaviors. Moreover, occasions where e.g. the relative frequency of HSCs in the bone marrow is decreased due expansion of non-HSC populations would lead to fewer numbers of HSCs being transplanted in wBM samples. A lower donor chimerism may then wrongfully be interpreted as impaired HSC function. Transplantations of purified HSCs would avoid these issues and allow for direct comparisons of per cell HSC performances in serially transplanted hosts.

Based on the findings and speculations in this study we therefore suggest that serial transplantation of purified HSCs, compared to of wBM, is advantageous for evaluations of long-term HSC behavior. However, in contrast to transplantation of purified HSCs, transplantation of wBM does not exclude HSCs residing within other phenotypical marker combinations than those used for HSC isolation. At

times where this is the case, determination of HSC frequencies would have to be established through other methods, and evaluations of HSCs cannot be based on phenotypical markers of HSCs elsewhere. Therefore, we believe that this argument typically does not outplay the beneficial consequences of serially transplanting purified HSCs.

Another limitation with serial transplantation of re-purified HSCs is that these possess competitive disadvantages compared to freshly isolated competitor cells, which may result in very low chimerism levels. To avoid this, we propose that the numbers of serially transplanted HSC are increased compared to in the primary transplantation and/or that previously-transplanted bone marrow is used as competition. Setting up separate experiments for evaluation of short-term and long-term HSC behaviors, where primary recipients that are to be used for serial transplantations are transplanted with wBM would allow for re-isolation of a high quantity of HSCs as well as maximizing the proliferative pressure on HSCs in the primary setting. Bone marrow, from which HSCs are then purified from is subsequently isolated from multiple bones, and competitively transplanted into secondary recipients where per cell evaluations of HSC behaviors are conducted.

Collectively, the findings presented in this study demonstrate major concerns associated with serial transplantation of wBM when evaluating long-term HSC behavior. In comparison, serial transplantation of purified HSCs often offers more robust interpretation of long-term HSC self-renewal and lineage output capacity.

# Article III

Human and Murine Hematopoietic Stem Cell Aging Is Associated with Functional Impairments and Intrinsic Megakaryocytic/Erythroid Bias.

Rundberg Nilsson A, Soneji S, Adolfsson S, Bryder D, Pronk CJ.

*PLoS One.* 2016 Jul 1;11(7):e0158369. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158369. eCollection 2016.

Aim: To evaluate and compare age-associated changes in human and mouse HSPCs.

Aging is accompanied by numerous hematologic impairments, including compromised adaptive immune responses, and increased incidences of anemia and myeloid leukemias. In mice, such age-associated alterations have been linked to changes within immature cells at the top of the hematopoietic hierarchy. Similar investigations in humans are sparse and somewhat conflicting. We therefore set out to evaluate age-related changes within the primitive HSPC compartment in humans. As humans present with high biological variance, we based or interpretations on a large number of human samples, which allowed us to thoroughly address previously conflicting results in human studies. Simultaneously, we performed similar investigations in mice. In this study, we revealed several inter-species conserved patterns between humans and mice, as well as presented novel age-associated findings.

We first evaluated age-associated frequency alterations of HSCs, MEPs, GMPs, **CLPs** human bone marrow. well and in as as of HSCs. premegakaryocyte/erythrocyte progenitors (preMegEs), MkPs, pre-colony-forming unit erythroid (preCFU-Es), CFU-Es, pGM/GMPs, and CLPs in mice. Both humans and mice revealed increasing frequencies of HSCs with age, which we interpreted as a conserved compensatory mechanism aimed at rescuing reduced per cell competence. Consistent with age-associated impairments in adaptive immune functions, both species also revealed reduced levels of CLPs in the aged bone marrow. Moreover, aged human bone marrow presented with increased frequencies of MEPs, which may represent means aimed at counteracting the reduced erythrocyte and platelet output that is observed in aged humans. In contrast, the Mk/Er bipotent progenitor preMegE in mice was not significantly altered with age. This may demonstrate differences in hematological aging phenotypes between humans and mice and/or that the Er/Mk progenitors are not fully comparable. In support of the former are findings showing that human aging is associated with decreased counts of both erythrocytes and platelets, while mouse aging show decreased counts of erythrocytes but increased numbers of platelets. Accordingly, downstream of preMegEs, aged mouse bone marrow presented with increased frequencies of MkPs and decreased frequencies of erythroid progenitors. Although aging of murine bone marrow was associated with a slight increase in pGM/GMP frequencies, aging of human bone marrow showed decreasing frequencies of GMPs. At least part of this may be related to the inclusion of MLPs within the investigated human GMP gate. Nevertheless, early human lineage skewing appears to mainly consist of increased priming to the Mk/Er lineage, and decreased priming to the lymphoid lineage. When we evaluated functional *in vitro* potential of aged human HSCs, we could confirm decreased proliferative potential, as well as a trend toward reduced B cell capacity. We also showed that CB HSCs were vastly superior to bone marrow HSCs in both these aspects.

We next used young and aged human bone marrow HSCs to identify differentially expressed genes (DEGs) that subsequent gene ontology (GO) analyses and establishment of age-associated HSC signatures used in gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) were developed from. GO analyses revealed that genes upregulated in aged HSCs were enriched for biological themes involving platelet activation, and blood coagulation, further suggesting a platelet-bias in aged human HSCs. Furthermore, aged HSCs were enriched for DNA and chromatin modification themes, indicating also age-associated alterations in the epigenetic landscape. Young human HSCs were enriched for several themes associated with lymphocyte activation and differentiation, as well as immune system development, consistent with the age-associated decrease in CLP frequency and lymphoid output impairment.

Myeloid-skewing has previously been reported in human HSCs. However, as these analyses were based on subjectively chosen genes without distinction between the Mk/Er and granulocyte/monocyte lineage, and because our frequency analyses hinted towards a Mk/Er rather than a granulocyte/monocyte bias, we decided to approach a potential lineage skewing in a more unbiased manner. Recently published studies suggesting an increase of platelet-biased HSCs with age in mice prompted us to simultaneously evaluate this in mice. To establish unbiased lineage-associated signatures we identified DEGs between young human MEPs, GMPs, and CLPs, as well as between young mouse preMegEs, pGM/GMPs and CLPs, or young mouse MkPs, preCFU-Es, pGM/GMPs and CLPs. When applying these gene sets to enrichment analyses between young and aged HSCs, we could demonstrate that aged human HSCs were enriched for MEP and GMP signatures, while young human HSCs were enriched for the CLP gene set. The three-progenitor-group-established mouse gene sets only revealed significant enrichment of preMegE-associated genes to aged HSCs, demonstrating that a strong Mk/Er skewing was also present in aged mouse HSCs. GSEA based on the four-progenitor-group comparison revealed that both MkP- and preCFU-E-affiliated genes were enriched in aged mouse HSCs. In this analysis, significant enrichment was also seen between CLP and pGM/GMP signatures to young HSCs.

Collectively, these analyses suggest that a strong skewing towards Mk/Er is present in both human and mouse aged HSCs, while the young HSC pool is associated with an enrichment of lymphoid-associated genes. Furthermore, the combined analysis of human and mouse HSCs hints for inter-species conserved lineage skewing patterns.

# Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Hematopoes (blodbildning) är en process som ständigt pågår under hela livet. Under denna process bildas mogna blodceller som bl a bygger upp immunsystemet och transporterar syre till kroppens vävnader. Eftersom dessa celler har begränsade livslängder måste de ersättas kontinuerligt. Varje dag produceras därför ca en biljon nya blodceller, vilket medför att en genomsnittperson producerar sin egen vikt i bara blodceller ungefär vart sjunde år. För att en sådan produktion ska kunna fortgå under en hel livstid krävs celler som har två särskilda förmågor: 1) att kunna skapa kopior av sig själva (självförnvelse) så att cellerna inte tar slut, och 2) att kunna differentiera (mogna) ut till blodsystemets alla olika celler för att ersätta förlorade celler. De celler som har dessa förmågor finns i benmärgen och kallas för hematopoetiska stamceller (HSC:s). HSC:s utgör endast en väldigt liten del av alla celler som finns i benmärgen (~0,001–0,01 %). För att kunna rena upp HSC:s behövs därför väldigt sofistikerade metoder. När HSC:s differentierar ut till mogna blodceller sker detta genom en rad mellansteg och celldelningar som är viktiga bl a för att man ska kunna få ut så många celler som möjligt från varje stamcell. Cellerna som utgör dessa mellansteg kallas för progenitorsceller.

En metod som ofta användas för att analysera och rena upp HSC:s är flödescytometri. För att kunna hitta stamcellerna använder man sig av antikroppar som binder till särskilda proteiner på cellernas yta. Genom att använda rätt kombination av antikroppar kan man identifiera stamcellerna baserat på vilka proteiner man vet ska finnas och inte finnas på deras yta. För att kunna se vilka antikroppar som har bundit till olika celler är antikropparna kopplade till fluoroforer. Fluoroforer är molekyler som kan fånga upp ljus och sedan sända ut (emittera) ljus med olika våglängder som är specifika för olika sorters fluoroforer. Genom att koppla olika fluoroforer till olika antikroppar kan man med hjälp av flödescytometern särskilja vilka antikroppar som har bundit till en viss cell baserat på de ljus de emitterar ut och man kan även mekaniskt sortera ut de celler man vill åt. Flödescytometri är ett mycket viktigt redskap inom blodcellsforskningen och har bidragit till enorma forskningsframsteg. Det används även inom kliniken för att t.ex. diagnostisera och klassificera blodcancrar. Flödescytometri är dock en väldig känslig metod som ställer stora krav på både cellmaterial och användare. Inte minst när man är intresserad av celler som utgör en så väldigt liten andel av ett prov som vid studerandet av HSC:s, är kraven på förberedande, utförande och analys, särskilt viktiga för att resultatet ska bli korrekt. I **artikel I** har vi belyst några sådana viktiga inslag, såsom val av antikroppar och fluoroforer, nödvändiga kontroller, samt visualisering av resultaten. I denna artikel presenterar vi även en väldigt komplex antikroppskombination för humana (mänskliga) celler som gör att man kan analysera många olika omogna (HSC:s och progenitorsceller) och mogna blodcellspopulationer i ett och samma benmärgsprov. Detta är viktig för att kunna få ut så mycket information som möjligt från ett prov då mängden humant benmärgsprov man har tillgång till ofta är väldigt liten.

Då etiska och experimentella begränsningar hindrar många undersökningar av humana celler används ofta modellorganismer med egenskaper som liknar människans. Möss är väldigt vanliga modellorganismer vid blodcellsstudier då människors och möss blodsystem är väldigt lika. När man undersöker HSC:s inom forskning transplanterar man ofta HSC:s som man har renat upp från en mus till en annan. När man är intresserad av hur de beter sig på lång sikt serietransplanterar man HSC:s, vilket innebär att HSC:s först transplanteras till en mus, återisoleras från denna mus en tid efter, och sedan transplanteras vidare till en ny mus. På så sätt tvingar man stamcellerna att gång på gång bygga upp det hematopoetiska systemet. Tanken är att bara äkta HSC:s ska klara av att bygga upp det hematopoetiska systemet upprepade gånger, och på så sätt kan man studera den långvariga effekten av HSC:s i en accelererad modell utan att behöva åldra mössen under längre tider. Vi upptäckte dock att trots att detta är en väldigt utbredd metod utförs inte serietransplantationer enhetligt mellan olika laboratorium. I artikel II jämförde vi därför de två vanligaste strategierna (att serietransplantera hel benmärg och att serietransplantera renade HSC:s) för att undersöka om de olika metoderna medförde några särskilda för- och/eller nackdelar. Vi kom fram till att den vanligaste strategin, serietransplantation av hel benmärg, medförde stora nackdelar jämfört med serietransplantation av renade HSC:s i de allra flesta fall, vilket kritiskt kunde påverka både analys och resultat av experimentet. Här spelade faktorer såsom skillnader i HSC-frekvens mellan jämförda grupper, effekter av celler som inte var HSC:s, samt skillnader i distribution av HSC:s mellan benmärg i olika ben efter transplantation, stor roll. Med dessa resultat som grund föreslog vi sedan en utförlig serietransplantationsstrategi som maximerar chanserna att korrekt bedöma HSC:s långvariga kapacitet. Resultaten i denna studie ifrågasätter resultat från många studier som använt serietransplantation av hel benmärg som metod och illustrerar även möjliga orsaker till att olika studier har visat olika resultat.

Möss och människor uppvisar även många liknande förändring inom blodsystemet vid åldrande. T.ex. så får äldre individer sämre immunförsvar och har större risk för att utveckla anemi (blodbrist) och olika blodcancrar. Möss och människor har dock även många olikheter, såsom storlek, livslängd, metabolism, och omgivningsfaktorer. Trots likheterna mellan möss och människor skulle det därför också kunna vara olika mekanismer som styr blodceller och blodcellsåldrandet. Det är viktigt att reda ut likheter och skillnader mellan möss och människor för att kunna säkerställa musen som en passande modellorganism att studera blodceller i, och för att kunna veta när musen inte är tillräcklig för att vi ska kunna förstå hur blodcellerna regleras i människor. Studier i möss har visat att vissa av de förändringar som sker i blodsystemet vid åldrande är kopplade till förändringar som sker i HSC:s. Liknande studier på humana celler är begränsade och delvis inkonsekventa. I artikel III studerade vi därför åldersrelaterade förändringar hos hematopoetiska stam- och progenitorsceller hos både möss och människor. Vi identifierade flera gemensamma förändringar, samt presenterade nya, tidigare oidentifierade förändringar. Likheterna mellan möss och människor tyder på att åtminstone vissa delar av HSC-åldrandet styrs av artbevarade mekanismer. Resultaten tyder också på att flera av de förändringar man ser hos mogna blodceller vid åldrande startar i HSC:s, men också att HSC:s försöker kompensera för åldersrelaterade försämringar.

Sammanfattningsvis belyser resultaten i denna avhandlings artiklar aspekter som är kritiska vid användandet av några av de mest utbredda metoder inom HSCforskning. Beaktande av dessa parametrar är absolut nödvändiga för korrekt bedömning av undersökningsresultat. Vidare så har HSC:s undersökts och kartlagts ur ett åldrandeperspektiv hos både möss och människor. Sådan kunskap kan vara essentiell för utvecklande av behandlingsalternativ som förhindrar, begränsar, och/eller förbättrar åldringsrelaterade sjukdomar och tillstånd.

# Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my main supervisor **Kees-Jan Pronk**, who took me on as a PhD student. It has been a very educational and fun journey. I'm very grateful for everything that you have taught me, and I am happy to call you my friend.

Secondly, I want to extend my sincerest thanks to **David Bryder**. I can honestly say that that without your supervision and inclusion of me in your lab this journey would have been a lot more lonely and troublesome. Your passion for science is truly inspirational.

I would also like to thank past and present lab members for making my PhD period a very pleasant time. I've really had a great time working with you. Martin, for being a great friend and scientist that after all of these years is still not able to say "That's what she said" at an appropriate moment. I mean, it's not that hard... (come on now...). Petter, for in addition to being very fun also brings some gangsta into the lab, although I've realized that this occasionally means Sean Banan or Eric Saade... Your computer hacking skills, especially regarding tabs, are legendary and an inspiration to us all. Amol, for always being so calm and kind. I don't think that I've ever seen vou upset. Well, I guess I would be quite satisfied myself if I had a personal chef preparing all my food for me! Talia, my most recent office mate that I really enjoy sharing office with. Thank you for always being so helpful and nice, and for not spending all your days with looking at children's toys! Eva, for always so gladly helping out in time of need and sharing your knowledge. Maria, for being so caring, and for sometimes even getting my name right. Also, thanks to Gerd, Mone, Ouyang, Haixia, and Isabel, for contributing to a positive and pleasant working environment.

Thank you also to the rest of the **B12** floor for creating such a great and inspiring environment to work in and for being so fun to play floorball with! **Alya**, thanks for being a "great fun" person to hang out with, and also for some crazy shit you said in San Diego about me being an albino and polar bears. I don't think you understand how much it makes me laugh when I think about it. Unfortunately, it also makes me think about that crazy skin-picking woman on the train so I try not to think about it too much. **Micke**, aka hermano, thanks for being an Arrested Development fan! *Ka-ka-ka-ka-ka-ka-kaaaah*! (That one is also for you, Alya. You know you love it).

There are a few old section members from **D14** where I started my PhD journey that also deserve special shout-outs, but first: thanks to all of the fellow members up there! We really had a fun time, especially in "the good old days" (sorry, "new" guys). **Mohammad**, aka "Is she hot?", thank you for being you. You are a person that I always have fun with no matter the circumstances, whether it is at parties or when discussing the perhaps not fully recognized medical conditions "slapsomnia" or "fart attack". This also brings me to the lovely **Adnan**, the third part of our cozy-Thursdays-glamourous-triad-of-greatness-assembly<sup>TM</sup>. Not only are you an awesome friend but also a worthy dance partner (though I'm not totally happy about that I still have salt in my hair from that "snow special effect"). Thank you also for always being there in time of need …when I can't make Simba outrun the boulder or defeat the monkey witch doctor.

Then there's also the people at A12, where I occasionally spend some time for mysterious reasons. Roman, for being a uniquely talented and awesome apa. I have never met anyone before in my life that has had the same discipline and dedication as you do. Thank you soooo much for making me realize what a lazy bastard I am in comparison. Really helpful... Carolina, for being just a wonderful person and friend, and for being "so small". Also, thanks to "the poker people", for giving me your money.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, who have always been very supportive. Especial thanks to my closest family – my **mom**, my **dad**, my **sisters**, and my sisters' **significant others** and **children**. I am so grateful that I have you all! ♥

# References

- 1. Garraud O, Lefrere JJ. Blood and blood-associated symbols beyond medicine and transfusion: far more complex than first appears. Blood Transfus. 2014;12(1):14-21.
- 2. Kaiser J. BIOMEDICINE. Antiaging trial using young blood stirs concerns. Science. 2016;353(6299):527-8.
- Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Wagers AJ, Girma ER, Weissman IL, Rando TA. Rejuvenation of aged progenitor cells by exposure to a young systemic environment. Nature. 2005;433(7027):760-4.
- 4. Loffredo FS, Steinhauser ML, Jay SM, Gannon J, Pancoast JR, Yalamanchi P, et al. Growth differentiation factor 11 is a circulating factor that reverses age-related cardiac hypertrophy. Cell. 2013;153(4):828-39.
- Ruckh JM, Zhao JW, Shadrach JL, van Wijngaarden P, Rao TN, Wagers AJ, et al. Rejuvenation of regeneration in the aging central nervous system. Cell Stem Cell. 2012;10(1):96-103.
- 6. Goldman L. An intellectual agenda for hospitalists: lessons from bloodletting. J Hosp Med. 2013;8(7):418-9.
- Greenstone G. The history of bloodletting. BC Medical Journal. 2010;VOL. 52(NO. 1,).
- 8. Screening Donated Blood for Transfusion-Transmissible Infections: Recommendations. WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee. Geneva2009.
- 9. Little MT, Storb R. History of haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2(3):231-8.
- 10. de la Morena MT, Gatti RA. A history of bone marrow transplantation. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2011;25(1):1-15.
- 11. Szyska M, Na IK. Bone Marrow GvHD after Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. Front Immunol. 2016;7:118.
- 12. Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Revised Estimates for the Number of Human and Bacteria Cells in the Body. PLoS Biol. 2016;14(8):e1002533.
- 13. Morera D, MacKenzie SA. Is there a direct role for erythrocytes in the immune response? Vet Res. 2011;42:89.
- 14. Heemskerk JW, Bevers EM, Lindhout T. Platelet activation and blood coagulation. Thromb Haemost. 2002;88(2):186-93.
- 15. Dempsey PW, Vaidya SA, Cheng G. The art of war: Innate and adaptive immune responses. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2003;60(12):2604-21.

- 16. Warrington R, Watson W, Kim HL, Antonetti FR. An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2011;7 Suppl 1:S1.
- Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. Science. 2011;331(6013):44-9.
- 18. Friedenstein A. Stromal-hematopoietic interrelationships: Maximov's ideas and modern models. Haematol Blood Transfus. 1989;32:159-67.
- 19. Jacobson LO, Simmons EL, Marks EK, Eldredge JH. Recovery from radiation injury. Science. 1951;113(2940):510-11.
- 20. Lorenz E, Uphoff D, Reid TR, Shelton E. Modification of irradiation injury in mice and guinea pigs by bone marrow injections. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1951;12(1):197-201.
- 21. Till JE, Mc CE. A direct measurement of the radiation sensitivity of normal mouse bone marrow cells. Radiat Res. 1961;14:213-22.
- 22. Wu AM, Till JE, Siminovitch L, McCulloch EA. Cytological evidence for a relationship between normal hemotopoietic colony-forming cells and cells of the lymphoid system. J Exp Med. 1968;127(3):455-64.
- 23. Becker AJ, Mc CE, Till JE. Cytological demonstration of the clonal nature of spleen colonies derived from transplanted mouse marrow cells. Nature. 1963;197:452-4.
- 24. Wu AM, Till JE, Siminovitch L, McCulloch EA. A cytological study of the capacity for differentiation of normal hemopoietic colony-forming cells. J Cell Physiol. 1967;69(2):177-84.
- 25. Siminovitch L, McCulloch EA, Till JE. The Distribution of Colony-Forming Cells among Spleen Colonies. J Cell Physiol. 1963;62:327-36.
- Hodgson GS, Bradley TR. Properties of haematopoietic stem cells surviving 5fluorouracil treatment: evidence for a pre-CFU-S cell? Nature. 1979;281(5730):381-2.
- 27. Van Zant G. Studies of hematopoietic stem cells spared by 5-fluorouracil. J Exp Med. 1984;159(3):679-90.
- 28. Dick JE, Magli MC, Huszar D, Phillips RA, Bernstein A. Introduction of a selectable gene into primitive stem cells capable of long-term reconstitution of the hemopoietic system of W/Wv mice. Cell. 1985;42(1):71-9.
- 29. Schofield R. The relationship between the spleen colony-forming cell and the haemopoietic stem cell. Blood Cells. 1978;4(1-2):7-25.
- 30. Ogawa M. Differentiation and proliferation of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. 1993;81(11):2844-53.
- 31. MacKey MC. Cell kinetic status of haematopoietic stem cells. Cell Prolif. 2001;34(2):71-83.
- 32. Doulatov S, Notta F, Eppert K, Nguyen LT, Ohashi PS, Dick JE. Revised map of the human progenitor hierarchy shows the origin of macrophages and dendritic cells in early lymphoid development. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(7):585-93.
- Notta F, Zandi S, Takayama N, Dobson S, Gan OI, Wilson G, et al. Distinct routes of lineage development reshape the human blood hierarchy across ontogeny. Science. 2016;351(6269):aab2116.

- Paul F, Arkin Y, Giladi A, Jaitin DA, Kenigsberg E, Keren-Shaul H, et al. Transcriptional Heterogeneity and Lineage Commitment in Myeloid Progenitors. Cell. 2015;163(7):1663-77.
- 35. Lee J, Breton G, Aljoufi A, Zhou YJ, Puhr S, Nussenzweig MC, et al. Clonal analysis of human dendritic cell progenitor using a stromal cell culture. J Immunol Methods. 2015;425:21-6.
- 36. Sanjuan-Pla A, Macaulay IC, Jensen CT, Woll PS, Luis TC, Mead A, et al. Plateletbiased stem cells reside at the apex of the haematopoietic stem-cell hierarchy. Nature. 2013;502(7470):232-6.
- Adolfsson J, Mansson R, Buza-Vidas N, Hultquist A, Liuba K, Jensen CT, et al. Identification of Flt3+ lympho-myeloid stem cells lacking erythro-megakaryocytic potential a revised road map for adult blood lineage commitment. Cell. 2005;121(2):295-306.
- Yamamoto R, Morita Y, Ooehara J, Hamanaka S, Onodera M, Rudolph KL, et al. Clonal analysis unveils self-renewing lineage-restricted progenitors generated directly from hematopoietic stem cells. Cell. 2013;154(5):1112-26.
- 39. Gekas C, Graf T. CD41 expression marks myeloid-biased adult hematopoietic stem cells and increases with age. Blood. 2013;121(22):4463-72.
- 40. Challen GA, Boles NC, Chambers SM, Goodell MA. Distinct hematopoietic stem cell subtypes are differentially regulated by TGF-beta1. Cell Stem Cell. 2010;6(3):265-78.
- 41. Dykstra B, Kent D, Bowie M, McCaffrey L, Hamilton M, Lyons K, et al. Long-term propagation of distinct hematopoietic differentiation programs in vivo. Cell Stem Cell. 2007;1(2):218-29.
- 42. Oguro H, Ding L, Morrison SJ. SLAM family markers resolve functionally distinct subpopulations of hematopoietic stem cells and multipotent progenitors. Cell Stem Cell. 2013;13(1):102-16.
- 43. Bryder D, Rossi DJ, Weissman IL. Hematopoietic stem cells: the paradigmatic tissue-specific stem cell. Am J Pathol. 2006;169(2):338-46.
- 44. Benveniste P, Frelin C, Janmohamed S, Barbara M, Herrington R, Hyam D, et al. Intermediate-term hematopoietic stem cells with extended but time-limited reconstitution potential. Cell Stem Cell. 2010;6(1):48-58.
- 45. Yang L, Bryder D, Adolfsson J, Nygren J, Mansson R, Sigvardsson M, et al. Identification of Lin(-)Sca1(+)kit(+)CD34(+)Flt3- short-term hematopoietic stem cells capable of rapidly reconstituting and rescuing myeloablated transplant recipients. Blood. 2005;105(7):2717-23.
- 46. Majeti R, Park CY, Weissman IL. Identification of a hierarchy of multipotent hematopoietic progenitors in human cord blood. Cell Stem Cell. 2007;1(6):635-45.
- Christensen JL, Weissman IL. Flk-2 is a marker in hematopoietic stem cell differentiation: a simple method to isolate long-term stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(25):14541-6.
- 48. Ema H, Morita Y, Suda T. Heterogeneity and hierarchy of hematopoietic stem cells. Exp Hematol. 2014;42(2):74-82 e2.

- 49. Lai AY, Kondo M. Asymmetrical lymphoid and myeloid lineage commitment in multipotent hematopoietic progenitors. J Exp Med. 2006;203(8):1867-73.
- 50. Kohn LA, Hao QL, Sasidharan R, Parekh C, Ge S, Zhu Y, et al. Lymphoid priming in human bone marrow begins before expression of CD10 with upregulation of L-selectin. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(10):963-71.
- 51. Iwasaki H, Akashi K. Hematopoietic developmental pathways: on cellular basis. Oncogene. 2007;26(47):6687-96.
- 52. Arinobu Y, Mizuno S, Chong Y, Shigematsu H, Iino T, Iwasaki H, et al. Reciprocal activation of GATA-1 and PU.1 marks initial specification of hematopoietic stem cells into myeloerythroid and myelolymphoid lineages. Cell Stem Cell. 2007;1(4):416-27.
- 53. Nestorowa S, Hamey FK, Pijuan Sala B, Diamanti E, Shepherd M, Laurenti E, et al. A single-cell resolution map of mouse hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell differentiation. Blood. 2016;128(8):e20-31.
- 54. Gorgens A, Radtke S, Mollmann M, Cross M, Durig J, Horn PA, et al. Revision of the human hematopoietic tree: granulocyte subtypes derive from distinct hematopoietic lineages. Cell Rep. 2013;3(5):1539-52.
- 55. Akashi K, Traver D, Miyamoto T, Weissman IL. A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. Nature. 2000;404(6774):193-7.
- Xiao Y, Zijl S, Wang L, de Groot DC, van Tol MJ, Lankester AC, et al. Identification of the Common Origins of Osteoclasts, Macrophages, and Dendritic Cells in Human Hematopoiesis. Stem Cell Reports. 2015;4(6):984-94.
- 57. Kondo M, Weissman IL, Akashi K. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Cell. 1997;91(5):661-72.
- 58. Karsunky H, Inlay MA, Serwold T, Bhattacharya D, Weissman IL. Flk2+ common lymphoid progenitors possess equivalent differentiation potential for the B and T lineages. Blood. 2008;111(12):5562-70.
- 59. Galy A, Travis M, Cen D, Chen B. Human T, B, natural killer, and dendritic cells arise from a common bone marrow progenitor cell subset. Immunity. 1995;3(4):459-73.
- 60. Ghaedi M, Steer CA, Martinez-Gonzalez I, Halim TY, Abraham N, Takei F. Common-Lymphoid-Progenitor-Independent Pathways of Innate and T Lymphocyte Development. Cell Rep. 2016;15(3):471-80.
- 61. Haas S, Hansson J, Klimmeck D, Loeffler D, Velten L, Uckelmann H, et al. Inflammation-Induced Emergency Megakaryopoiesis Driven by Hematopoietic Stem Cell-like Megakaryocyte Progenitors. Cell Stem Cell. 2015;17(4):422-34.
- 62. Yilmaz OH, Kiel MJ, Morrison SJ. SLAM family markers are conserved among hematopoietic stem cells from old and reconstituted mice and markedly increase their purity. Blood. 2006;107(3):924-30.
- 63. Goodell MA, Brose K, Paradis G, Conner AS, Mulligan RC. Isolation and functional properties of murine hematopoietic stem cells that are replicating in vivo. J Exp Med. 1996;183(4):1797-806.

- 64. McKenzie JL, Takenaka K, Gan OI, Doedens M, Dick JE. Low rhodamine 123 retention identifies long-term human hematopoietic stem cells within the Lin-CD34+CD38- population. Blood. 2007;109(2):543-5.
- 65. Bertoncello I, Williams B. Hematopoietic stem cell characterization by Hoechst 33342 and rhodamine 123 staining. Methods Mol Biol. 2004;263:181-200.
- 66. Andrews RG, Singer JW, Bernstein ID. Human hematopoietic precursors in longterm culture: single CD34+ cells that lack detectable T cell, B cell, and myeloid cell antigens produce multiple colony-forming cells when cultured with marrow stromal cells. J Exp Med. 1990;172(1):355-8.
- 67. Matsuoka Y, Sumide K, Kawamura H, Nakatsuka R, Fujioka T, Sasaki Y, et al. Human cord blood-derived primitive CD34-negative hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are myeloid-biased long-term repopulating HSCs. Blood Cancer J. 2015;5:e290.
- 68. Anjos-Afonso F, Currie E, Palmer HG, Foster KE, Taussig DC, Bonnet D. CD34(-) cells at the apex of the human hematopoietic stem cell hierarchy have distinctive cellular and molecular signatures. Cell Stem Cell. 2013;13(2):161-74.
- 69. Matsuoka Y, Sumide K, Kawamura H, Nakatsuka R, Fujioka T, Sonoda Y. GPI-80 expression highly purifies human cord blood-derived primitive CD34-negative hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. 2016;128(18):2258-60.
- 70. Dao MA, Arevalo J, Nolta JA. Reversibility of CD34 expression on human hematopoietic stem cells that retain the capacity for secondary reconstitution. Blood. 2003;101(1):112-8.
- 71. Doulatov S, Notta F, Laurenti E, Dick JE. Hematopoiesis: a human perspective. Cell Stem Cell. 2012;10(2):120-36.
- 72. Mayani H, Dragowska W, Lansdorp PM. Characterization of functionally distinct subpopulations of CD34+ cord blood cells in serum-free long-term cultures supplemented with hematopoietic cytokines. Blood. 1993;82(9):2664-72.
- 73. Baum CM, Weissman IL, Tsukamoto AS, Buckle AM, Peault B. Isolation of a candidate human hematopoietic stem-cell population. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89(7):2804-8.
- 74. Notta F, Doulatov S, Laurenti E, Poeppl A, Jurisica I, Dick JE. Isolation of single human hematopoietic stem cells capable of long-term multilineage engraftment. Science. 2011;333(6039):218-21.
- 75. Sawen P, Lang S, Mandal P, Rossi DJ, Soneji S, Bryder D. Mitotic History Reveals Distinct Stem Cell Populations and Their Contributions to Hematopoiesis. Cell Rep. 2016;14(12):2809-18.
- 76. Sawai CM, Babovic S, Upadhaya S, Knapp DJ, Lavin Y, Lau CM, et al. Hematopoietic Stem Cells Are the Major Source of Multilineage Hematopoiesis in Adult Animals. Immunity. 2016;45(3):597-609.
- 77. Sun J, Ramos A, Chapman B, Johnnidis JB, Le L, Ho YJ, et al. Clonal dynamics of native haematopoiesis. Nature. 2014;514(7522):322-7.
- Busch K, Klapproth K, Barile M, Flossdorf M, Holland-Letz T, Schlenner SM, et al. Fundamental properties of unperturbed haematopoiesis from stem cells in vivo. Nature. 2015;518(7540):542-6.

- 79. Chatzispyrou IA, Held NM, Mouchiroud L, Auwerx J, Houtkooper RH. Tetracycline antibiotics impair mitochondrial function and its experimental use confounds research. Cancer Res. 2015;75(21):4446-9.
- Moullan N, Mouchiroud L, Wang X, Ryu D, Williams EG, Mottis A, et al. Tetracyclines Disturb Mitochondrial Function across Eukaryotic Models: A Call for Caution in Biomedical Research. Cell Rep. 2015.
- 81. Sanchez-Aguilera A, Arranz L, Martin-Perez D, Garcia-Garcia A, Stavropoulou V, Kubovcakova L, et al. Estrogen signaling selectively induces apoptosis of hematopoietic progenitors and myeloid neoplasms without harming steady-state hematopoiesis. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;15(6):791-804.
- 82. Gawad C, Koh W, Quake SR. Single-cell genome sequencing: current state of the science. Nat Rev Genet. 2016;17(3):175-88.
- 83. Clark SJ, Lee HJ, Smallwood SA, Kelsey G, Reik W. Single-cell epigenomics: powerful new methods for understanding gene regulation and cell identity. Genome Biol. 2016;17:72.
- 84. Schwartzman O, Tanay A. Single-cell epigenomics: techniques and emerging applications. Nat Rev Genet. 2015;16(12):716-26.
- Gerrits A, Dykstra B, Kalmykowa OJ, Klauke K, Verovskaya E, Broekhuis MJ, et al. Cellular barcoding tool for clonal analysis in the hematopoietic system. Blood. 2010;115(13):2610-8.
- 86. Kretzschmar K, Watt FM. Lineage tracing. Cell. 2012;148(1-2):33-45.
- 87. Rangarajan A, Weinberg RA. Opinion: Comparative biology of mouse versus human cells: modelling human cancer in mice. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3(12):952-9.
- 88. Perlman RL. Mouse models of human disease: An evolutionary perspective. Evol Med Public Health. 2016;2016(1):170-6.
- 89. Bouabe H, Okkenhaug K. Gene targeting in mice: a review. Methods Mol Biol. 2013;1064:315-36.
- 90. Theocharides AP, Rongvaux A, Fritsch K, Flavell RA, Manz MG. Humanized hemato-lymphoid system mice. Haematologica. 2016;101(1):5-19.
- 91. Ito R, Takahashi T, Katano I, Ito M. Current advances in humanized mouse models. Cell Mol Immunol. 2012;9(3):208-14.
- 92. Justice MJ, Dhillon P. Using the mouse to model human disease: increasing validity and reproducibility. Dis Model Mech. 2016;9(2):101-3.
- 93. Qiu J, Papatsenko D, Niu X, Schaniel C, Moore K. Divisional history and hematopoietic stem cell function during homeostasis. Stem Cell Reports. 2014;2(4):473-90.
- 94. Chen JY, Miyanishi M, Wang SK, Yamazaki S, Sinha R, Kao KS, et al. Hoxb5 marks long-term haematopoietic stem cells and reveals a homogenous perivascular niche. Nature. 2016;530(7589):223-7.
- 95. Morita Y, Ema H, Nakauchi H. Heterogeneity and hierarchy within the most primitive hematopoietic stem cell compartment. J Exp Med. 2010;207(6):1173-82.

- 96. Jang YY, Sharkis SJ. A low level of reactive oxygen species selects for primitive hematopoietic stem cells that may reside in the low-oxygenic niche. Blood. 2007;110(8):3056-63.
- 97. Wilson NK, Kent DG, Buettner F, Shehata M, Macaulay IC, Calero-Nieto FJ, et al. Combined Single-Cell Functional and Gene Expression Analysis Resolves Heterogeneity within Stem Cell Populations. Cell Stem Cell. 2015;16(6):712-24.
- 98. Shin JY, Hu W, Naramura M, Park CY. High c-Kit expression identifies hematopoietic stem cells with impaired self-renewal and megakaryocytic bias. J Exp Med. 2014;211(2):217-31.
- 99. Ito K, Turcotte R, Cui J, Zimmerman SE, Pinho S, Mizoguchi T, et al. Self-renewal of a purified Tie2+ hematopoietic stem cell population relies on mitochondrial clearance. Science. 2016.
- 100. Umemoto T, Yamato M, Shiratsuchi Y, Terasawa M, Yang J, Nishida K, et al. CD61 enriches long-term repopulating hematopoietic stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008;365(1):176-82.
- 101. Woolthuis CM, Park CY. Hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell commitment to the megakaryocyte lineage. Blood. 2016;127(10):1242-8.
- Goodell MA, Nguyen H, Shroyer N. Somatic stem cell heterogeneity: diversity in the blood, skin and intestinal stem cell compartments. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2015;16(5):299-309.
- 103. Medvinsky A, Rybtsov S, Taoudi S. Embryonic origin of the adult hematopoietic system: advances and questions. Development. 2011;138(6):1017-31.
- 104. Orkin SH, Zon LI. Hematopoiesis and stem cells: plasticity versus developmental heterogeneity. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(4):323-8.
- 105. Moore MA, Metcalf D. Ontogeny of the haemopoietic system: yolk sac origin of in vivo and in vitro colony forming cells in the developing mouse embryo. Br J Haematol. 1970;18(3):279-96.
- 106. Palis J, Robertson S, Kennedy M, Wall C, Keller G. Development of erythroid and myeloid progenitors in the yolk sac and embryo proper of the mouse. Development. 1999;126(22):5073-84.
- 107. Bertrand JY, Jalil A, Klaine M, Jung S, Cumano A, Godin I. Three pathways to mature macrophages in the early mouse yolk sac. Blood. 2005;106(9):3004-11.
- 108. Hoeffel G, Chen J, Lavin Y, Low D, Almeida FF, See P, et al. C-Myb(+) erythromyeloid progenitor-derived fetal monocytes give rise to adult tissue-resident macrophages. Immunity. 2015;42(4):665-78.
- 109. Kumaravelu P, Hook L, Morrison AM, Ure J, Zhao S, Zuyev S, et al. Quantitative developmental anatomy of definitive haematopoietic stem cells/long-term repopulating units (HSC/RUs): role of the aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM) region and the yolk sac in colonisation of the mouse embryonic liver. Development. 2002;129(21):4891-9.
- 110. Christensen JL, Wright DE, Wagers AJ, Weissman IL. Circulation and chemotaxis of fetal hematopoietic stem cells. PLoS Biol. 2004;2(3):E75.

- 111. Gekas C, Dieterlen-Lievre F, Orkin SH, Mikkola HK. The placenta is a niche for hematopoietic stem cells. Dev Cell. 2005;8(3):365-75.
- 112. de Bruijn MF, Speck NA, Peeters MC, Dzierzak E. Definitive hematopoietic stem cells first develop within the major arterial regions of the mouse embryo. EMBO J. 2000;19(11):2465-74.
- Lin Y, Yoder MC, Yoshimoto M. Lymphoid progenitor emergence in the murine embryo and yolk sac precedes stem cell detection. Stem Cells Dev. 2014;23(11):1168-77.
- 114. McGrath KE, Koniski AD, Malik J, Palis J. Circulation is established in a stepwise pattern in the mammalian embryo. Blood. 2003;101(5):1669-76.
- Samokhvalov IM, Samokhvalova NI, Nishikawa S. Cell tracing shows the contribution of the yolk sac to adult haematopoiesis. Nature. 2007;446(7139):1056-61.
- 116. Lee LK, Ghorbanian Y, Wang W, Wang Y, Kim YJ, Weissman IL, et al. LYVE1 Marks the Divergence of Yolk Sac Definitive Hemogenic Endothelium from the Primitive Erythroid Lineage. Cell Rep. 2016;17(9):2286-98.
- 117. Ivanovs A, Rybtsov S, Welch L, Anderson RA, Turner ML, Medvinsky A. Highly potent human hematopoietic stem cells first emerge in the intraembryonic aortagonad-mesonephros region. J Exp Med. 2011;208(12):2417-27.
- 118. Medvinsky A, Dzierzak E. Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. Cell. 1996;86(6):897-906.
- 119. Muller AM, Medvinsky A, Strouboulis J, Grosveld F, Dzierzak E. Development of hematopoietic stem cell activity in the mouse embryo. Immunity. 1994;1(4):291-301.
- 120. Bowie MB, Kent DG, Dykstra B, McKnight KD, McCaffrey L, Hoodless PA, et al. Identification of a new intrinsically timed developmental checkpoint that reprograms key hematopoietic stem cell properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(14):5878-82.
- 121. Pietras EM, Passegue E. Linking HSCs to their youth. Nat Cell Biol. 2013;15(8):885-7.
- 122. Rieger MA, Schroeder T. Hematopoiesis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2012;4(12).
- 123. Eaves CJ. Hematopoietic stem cells: concepts, definitions, and the new reality. Blood. 2015;125(17):2605-13.
- 124. Kim I, Saunders TL, Morrison SJ. Sox17 dependence distinguishes the transcriptional regulation of fetal from adult hematopoietic stem cells. Cell. 2007;130(3):470-83.
- 125. Ye M, Zhang H, Amabile G, Yang H, Staber PB, Zhang P, et al. C/EBPa controls acquisition and maintenance of adult haematopoietic stem cell quiescence. Nat Cell Biol. 2013;15(4):385-94.
- 126. Park IK, Qian D, Kiel M, Becker MW, Pihalja M, Weissman IL, et al. Bmi-1 is required for maintenance of adult self-renewing haematopoietic stem cells. Nature. 2003;423(6937):302-5.

- 127. Mochizuki-Kashio M, Mishima Y, Miyagi S, Negishi M, Saraya A, Konuma T, et al. Dependency on the polycomb gene Ezh2 distinguishes fetal from adult hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. 2011;118(25):6553-61.
- 128. Copley MR, Eaves CJ. Developmental changes in hematopoietic stem cell properties. Exp Mol Med. 2013;45:e55.
- 129. Yuan J, Nguyen CK, Liu X, Kanellopoulou C, Muljo SA. Lin28b reprograms adult bone marrow hematopoietic progenitors to mediate fetal-like lymphopoiesis. Science. 2012;335(6073):1195-200.
- 130. Copley MR, Babovic S, Benz C, Knapp DJ, Beer PA, Kent DG, et al. The Lin28blet-7-Hmga2 axis determines the higher self-renewal potential of fetal haematopoietic stem cells. Nat Cell Biol. 2013;15(8):916-25.
- Gomez Perdiguero E, Klapproth K, Schulz C, Busch K, Azzoni E, Crozet L, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors. Nature. 2015;518(7540):547-51.
- 132. Kristiansen TA, Jaensson Gyllenback E, Zriwil A, Bjorklund T, Daniel JA, Sitnicka E, et al. Cellular Barcoding Links B-1a B Cell Potential to a Fetal Hematopoietic Stem Cell State at the Single-Cell Level. Immunity. 2016;45(2):346-57.
- 133. Rossi DJ, Jamieson CH, Weissman IL. Stems cells and the pathways to aging and cancer. Cell. 2008;132(4):681-96.
- 134. Boraschi D, Aguado MT, Dutel C, Goronzy J, Louis J, Grubeck-Loebenstein B, et al. The gracefully aging immune system. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(185):185ps8.
- 135. Bron D, Ades L, Fulop T, Goede V. Aging and malignant hemopathies. Haematologica. 2015;100(5):571-4.
- 136. McKerrell T, Park N, Moreno T, Grove CS, Ponstingl H, Stephens J, et al. Leukemia-associated somatic mutations drive distinct patterns of age-related clonal hemopoiesis. Cell Rep. 2015;10(8):1239-45.
- 137. Jaiswal S, Fontanillas P, Flannick J, Manning A, Grauman PV, Mar BG, et al. Agerelated clonal hematopoiesis associated with adverse outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(26):2488-98.
- 138. Berliner N. Anemia in the elderly. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc. 2013;124:230-7.
- 139. Hassan M, Abedi-Valugerdi M. Hematologic malignancies in elderly patients. Haematologica. 2014;99(7):1124-7.
- 140. Sudo K, Ema H, Morita Y, Nakauchi H. Age-associated characteristics of murine hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med. 2000;192(9):1273-80.
- 141. Rossi DJ, Bryder D, Zahn JM, Ahlenius H, Sonu R, Wagers AJ, et al. Cell intrinsic alterations underlie hematopoietic stem cell aging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(26):9194-9.
- 142. Kim M, Moon HB, Spangrude GJ. Major age-related changes of mouse hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2003;996:195-208.
- 143. Porto ML, Rodrigues BP, Menezes TN, Ceschim SL, Casarini DE, Gava AL, et al. Reactive oxygen species contribute to dysfunction of bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells in aged C57BL/6 J mice. J Biomed Sci. 2015;22:97.

- 144. Sun D, Luo M, Jeong M, Rodriguez B, Xia Z, Hannah R, et al. Epigenomic profiling of young and aged HSCs reveals concerted changes during aging that reinforce self-renewal. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;14(5):673-88.
- 145. Chambers SM, Shaw CA, Gatza C, Fisk CJ, Donehower LA, Goodell MA. Aging hematopoietic stem cells decline in function and exhibit epigenetic dysregulation. PLoS Biol. 2007;5(8):e201.
- 146. Pang WW, Price EA, Sahoo D, Beerman I, Maloney WJ, Rossi DJ, et al. Human bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells are increased in frequency and myeloid-biased with age. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(50):20012-7.
- 147. Kuranda K, Vargaftig J, de la Rochere P, Dosquet C, Charron D, Bardin F, et al. Age-related changes in human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Aging Cell. 2011;10(3):542-6.
- 148. Cheshier SH, Morrison SJ, Liao X, Weissman IL. In vivo proliferation and cell cycle kinetics of long-term self-renewing hematopoietic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(6):3120-5.
- 149. Cheung TH, Rando TA. Molecular regulation of stem cell quiescence. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2013;14(6):329-40.
- 150. Mohrin M, Bourke E, Alexander D, Warr MR, Barry-Holson K, Le Beau MM, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell quiescence promotes error-prone DNA repair and mutagenesis. Cell Stem Cell. 2010;7(2):174-85.
- 151. Walter D, Lier A, Geiselhart A, Thalheimer FB, Huntscha S, Sobotta MC, et al. Exit from dormancy provokes DNA-damage-induced attrition in haematopoietic stem cells. Nature. 2015;520(7548):549-52.
- 152. Takubo K, Nagamatsu G, Kobayashi CI, Nakamura-Ishizu A, Kobayashi H, Ikeda E, et al. Regulation of glycolysis by Pdk functions as a metabolic checkpoint for cell cycle quiescence in hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2013;12(1):49-61.
- 153. Katajisto P, Dohla J, Chaffer CL, Pentinmikko N, Marjanovic N, Iqbal S, et al. Stem cells. Asymmetric apportioning of aged mitochondria between daughter cells is required for stemness. Science. 2015;348(6232):340-3.
- 154. Eliasson P, Jonsson JI. The hematopoietic stem cell niche: low in oxygen but a nice place to be. J Cell Physiol. 2010;222(1):17-22.
- 155. Spencer JA, Ferraro F, Roussakis E, Klein A, Wu J, Runnels JM, et al. Direct measurement of local oxygen concentration in the bone marrow of live animals. Nature. 2014;508(7495):269-73.
- 156. Morrison SJ, Prowse KR, Ho P, Weissman IL. Telomerase activity in hematopoietic cells is associated with self-renewal potential. Immunity. 1996;5(3):207-16.
- 157. Grover A, Sanjuan-Pla A, Thongjuea S, Carrelha J, Giustacchini A, Gambardella A, et al. Single-cell RNA sequencing reveals molecular and functional platelet bias of aged haematopoietic stem cells. Nat Commun. 2016;7:11075.
- 158. Dykstra B, Olthof S, Schreuder J, Ritsema M, de Haan G. Clonal analysis reveals multiple functional defects of aged murine hematopoietic stem cells. J Exp Med. 2011;208(13):2691-703.
- 159. Beerman I, Bhattacharya D, Zandi S, Sigvardsson M, Weissman IL, Bryder D, et al. Functionally distinct hematopoietic stem cells modulate hematopoietic lineage potential during aging by a mechanism of clonal expansion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(12):5465-70.
- 160. Max Jan, Benjamin L. Ebert, Jaiswal S. Clonal Hematopoiesis. Seminars in Hematology. 2016.
- 161. Genovese G, Kahler AK, Handsaker RE, Lindberg J, Rose SA, Bakhoum SF, et al. Clonal hematopoiesis and blood-cancer risk inferred from blood DNA sequence. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(26):2477-87.
- 162. Holstege H, Pfeiffer W, Sie D, Hulsman M, Nicholas TJ, Lee CC, et al. Somatic mutations found in the healthy blood compartment of a 115-yr-old woman demonstrate oligoclonal hematopoiesis. Genome Res. 2014;24(5):733-42.
- Florian MC, Dorr K, Niebel A, Daria D, Schrezenmeier H, Rojewski M, et al. Cdc42 activity regulates hematopoietic stem cell aging and rejuvenation. Cell Stem Cell. 2012;10(5):520-30.
- 164. Morrison SJ, Wandycz AM, Akashi K, Globerson A, Weissman IL. The aging of hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med. 1996;2(9):1011-6.
- 165. Kowalczyk MS, Tirosh I, Heckl D, Rao TN, Dixit A, Haas BJ, et al. Single-cell RNA-seq reveals changes in cell cycle and differentiation programs upon aging of hematopoietic stem cells. Genome Res. 2015;25(12):1860-72.
- 166. Li T, Zhou ZW, Ju Z, Wang ZQ. DNA Damage Response in Hematopoietic Stem Cell Ageing. Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics. 2016;14(3):147-54.
- 167. Rossi DJ, Bryder D, Seita J, Nussenzweig A, Hoeijmakers J, Weissman IL. Deficiencies in DNA damage repair limit the function of haematopoietic stem cells with age. Nature. 2007;447(7145):725-9.
- 168. Rube CE, Fricke A, Widmann TA, Furst T, Madry H, Pfreundschuh M, et al. Accumulation of DNA damage in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells during human aging. PLoS One. 2011;6(3):e17487.
- 169. Flach J, Bakker ST, Mohrin M, Conroy PC, Pietras EM, Reynaud D, et al. Replication stress is a potent driver of functional decline in ageing haematopoietic stem cells. Nature. 2014;512(7513):198-202.
- 170. Beerman I, Seita J, Inlay MA, Weissman IL, Rossi DJ. Quiescent hematopoietic stem cells accumulate DNA damage during aging that is repaired upon entry into cell cycle. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;15(1):37-50.
- 171. Yahata T, Takanashi T, Muguruma Y, Ibrahim AA, Matsuzawa H, Uno T, et al. Accumulation of oxidative DNA damage restricts the self-renewal capacity of human hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. 2011;118(11):2941-50.
- 172. Wahlestedt M, Norddahl GL, Sten G, Ugale A, Frisk MA, Mattsson R, et al. An epigenetic component of hematopoietic stem cell aging amenable to reprogramming into a young state. Blood. 2013;121(21):4257-64.
- 173. Behrens A, van Deursen JM, Rudolph KL, Schumacher B. Impact of genomic damage and ageing on stem cell function. Nat Cell Biol. 2014;16(3):201-7.

- 174. Wang J, Morita Y, Han B, Niemann S, Loffler B, Rudolph KL. Per2 induction limits lymphoid-biased haematopoietic stem cells and lymphopoiesis in the context of DNA damage and ageing. Nat Cell Biol. 2016;18(5):480-90.
- 175. Pollina EA, Brunet A. Epigenetic regulation of aging stem cells. Oncogene. 2011;30(28):3105-26.
- 176. Kramer A, Challen GA. The epigenetic basis of hematopoietic stem cell aging. Seminars in Hematology. 2016.
- 177. Sharma S, Gurudutta G. Epigenetic Regulation of Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Int J Stem Cells. 2016;9(1):36-43.
- 178. Satoh Y, Yokota T, Sudo T, Kondo M, Lai A, Kincade PW, et al. The Satb1 protein directs hematopoietic stem cell differentiation toward lymphoid lineages. Immunity. 2013;38(6):1105-15.
- 179. Beerman I, Bock C, Garrison BS, Smith ZD, Gu H, Meissner A, et al. Proliferationdependent alterations of the DNA methylation landscape underlie hematopoietic stem cell aging. Cell Stem Cell. 2013;12(4):413-25.
- 180. Balakumaran A, Mishra PJ, Pawelczyk E, Yoshizawa S, Sworder BJ, Cherman N, et al. Bone marrow skeletal stem/progenitor cell defects in dyskeratosis congenita and telomere biology disorders. Blood. 2015;125(5):793-802.
- Allsopp RC, Morin GB, Horner JW, DePinho R, Harley CB, Weissman IL. Effect of TERT over-expression on the long-term transplantation capacity of hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med. 2003;9(4):369-71.
- Calado RT, Dumitriu B. Telomere dynamics in mice and humans. Semin Hematol. 2013;50(2):165-74.
- 183. Loeb LA, Wallace DC, Martin GM. The mitochondrial theory of aging and its relationship to reactive oxygen species damage and somatic mtDNA mutations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(52):18769-70.
- 184. Kunkel TA. DNA replication fidelity. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(17):16895-8.
- Trifunovic A, Larsson NG. Mitochondrial dysfunction as a cause of ageing. J Intern Med. 2008;263(2):167-78.
- 186. Norddahl GL, Pronk CJ, Wahlestedt M, Sten G, Nygren JM, Ugale A, et al. Accumulating mitochondrial DNA mutations drive premature hematopoietic aging phenotypes distinct from physiological stem cell aging. Cell Stem Cell. 2011;8(5):499-510.
- Gallage S, Gil J. Mitochondrial Dysfunction Meets Senescence. Trends Biochem Sci. 2016;41(3):207-9.
- 188. Bigarella CL, Liang R, Ghaffari S. Stem cells and the impact of ROS signaling. Development. 2014;141(22):4206-18.
- He C, Hart PC, Germain D, Bonini MG. SOD2 and the Mitochondrial UPR: Partners Regulating Cellular Phenotypic Transitions. Trends Biochem Sci. 2016;41(7):568-77.
- 190. Slack C, Werz C, Wieser D, Alic N, Foley A, Stocker H, et al. Regulation of lifespan, metabolism, and stress responses by the Drosophila SH2B protein, Lnk. PLoS Genet. 2010;6(3):e1000881.

- 191. Norddahl GL, Wahlestedt M, Gisler S, Sigvardsson M, Bryder D. Reduced repression of cytokine signaling ameliorates age-induced decline in hematopoietic stem cell function. Aging Cell. 2012;11(6):1128-31.
- Melov S, Ravenscroft J, Malik S, Gill MS, Walker DW, Clayton PE, et al. Extension of life-span with superoxide dismutase/catalase mimetics. Science. 2000;289(5484):1567-9.
- 193. Rea SL, Ventura N, Johnson TE. Relationship between mitochondrial electron transport chain dysfunction, development, and life extension in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Biol. 2007;5(10):e259.
- 194. Sun J, Folk D, Bradley TJ, Tower J. Induced overexpression of mitochondrial Mnsuperoxide dismutase extends the life span of adult Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics. 2002;161(2):661-72.
- 195. Van Raamsdonk JM, Hekimi S. Deletion of the mitochondrial superoxide dismutase sod-2 extends lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Genet. 2009;5(2):e1000361.
- 196. Doonan R, McElwee JJ, Matthijssens F, Walker GA, Houthoofd K, Back P, et al. Against the oxidative damage theory of aging: superoxide dismutases protect against oxidative stress but have little or no effect on life span in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genes Dev. 2008;22(23):3236-41.
- 197. Sun X, Komatsu T, Lim J, Laslo M, Yolitz J, Wang C, et al. Nutrient-dependent requirement for SOD1 in lifespan extension by protein restriction in Drosophila melanogaster. Aging Cell. 2012;11(5):783-93.
- 198. Maxwell S, Harding J, Brabin C, Appleford PJ, Brown R, Delaney C, et al. The SFT-1 and OXA-1 respiratory chain complex assembly factors influence lifespan by distinct mechanisms in C. elegans. Longev Healthspan. 2013;2(1):9.
- 199. Owusu-Ansah E, Song W, Perrimon N. Muscle mitohormesis promotes longevity via systemic repression of insulin signaling. Cell. 2013;155(3):699-712.
- 200. Ristow M, Zarse K, Oberbach A, Kloting N, Birringer M, Kiehntopf M, et al. Antioxidants prevent health-promoting effects of physical exercise in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(21):8665-70.
- 201. Sun N, Youle RJ, Finkel T. The Mitochondrial Basis of Aging. Mol Cell. 2016;61(5):654-66.
- 202. Huang TT, Carlson EJ, Gillespie AM, Shi Y, Epstein CJ. Ubiquitous overexpression of CuZn superoxide dismutase does not extend life span in mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2000;55(1):B5-9.
- 203. Zhang Y, Ikeno Y, Qi W, Chaudhuri A, Li Y, Bokov A, et al. Mice deficient in both Mn superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase-1 have increased oxidative damage and a greater incidence of pathology but no reduction in longevity. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2009;64(12):1212-20.
- 204. Ito K, Hirao A, Arai F, Takubo K, Matsuoka S, Miyamoto K, et al. Reactive oxygen species act through p38 MAPK to limit the lifespan of hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med. 2006;12(4):446-51.
- 205. O'Connor KG, Tobin JD, Harman SM, Plato CC, Roy TA, Sherman SS, et al. Serum levels of insulin-like growth factor-I are related to age and not to body composition in healthy women and men. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 1998;53(3):M176-82.

- 206. Lorenzini A, Salmon AB, Lerner C, Torres C, Ikeno Y, Motch S, et al. Mice producing reduced levels of insulin-like growth factor type 1 display an increase in maximum, but not mean, life span. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2014;69(4):410-9.
- 207. Cheng CW, Adams GB, Perin L, Wei M, Zhou X, Lam BS, et al. Prolonged fasting reduces IGF-1/PKA to promote hematopoietic-stem-cell-based regeneration and reverse immunosuppression. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;14(6):810-23.
- Vander Haar E, Lee SI, Bandhakavi S, Griffin TJ, Kim DH. Insulin signalling to mTOR mediated by the Akt/PKB substrate PRAS40. Nat Cell Biol. 2007;9(3):316-23.
- 209. Chen C, Liu Y, Liu Y, Zheng P. mTOR regulation and therapeutic rejuvenation of aging hematopoietic stem cells. Sci Signal. 2009;2(98):ra75.
- 210. Imai S, Guarente L. NAD+ and sirtuins in aging and disease. Trends Cell Biol. 2014;24(8):464-71.
- 211. Brown K, Xie S, Qiu X, Mohrin M, Shin J, Liu Y, et al. SIRT3 reverses agingassociated degeneration. Cell Rep. 2013;3(2):319-27.
- 212. Rimmele P, Bigarella CL, Liang R, Izac B, Dieguez-Gonzalez R, Barbet G, et al. Aging-like phenotype and defective lineage specification in SIRT1-deleted hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Stem Cell Reports. 2014;3(1):44-59.
- 213. Mohrin M, Shin J, Liu Y, Brown K, Luo H, Xi Y, et al. Stem cell aging. A mitochondrial UPR-mediated metabolic checkpoint regulates hematopoietic stem cell aging. Science. 2015;347(6228):1374-7.
- Leko V, Varnum-Finney B, Li H, Gu Y, Flowers D, Nourigat C, et al. SIRT1 is dispensable for function of hematopoietic stem cells in adult mice. Blood. 2012;119(8):1856-60.
- 215. Demetrius L. Aging in mouse and human systems: a comparative study. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2006;1067:66-82.
- 216. Riether C, Schurch CM, Ochsenbein AF. Regulation of hematopoietic and leukemic stem cells by the immune system. Cell Death Differ. 2015;22(2):187-98.
- 217. Heazlewood SY, Neaves RJ, Williams B, Haylock DN, Adams TE, Nilsson SK. Megakaryocytes co-localise with hemopoietic stem cells and release cytokines that up-regulate stem cell proliferation. Stem Cell Res. 2013;11(2):782-92.
- 218. Zhao M, Perry JM, Marshall H, Venkatraman A, Qian P, He XC, et al. Megakaryocytes maintain homeostatic quiescence and promote post-injury regeneration of hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med. 2014;20(11):1321-6.
- 219. Bruns I, Lucas D, Pinho S, Ahmed J, Lambert MP, Kunisaki Y, et al. Megakaryocytes regulate hematopoietic stem cell quiescence through CXCL4 secretion. Nat Med. 2014;20(11):1315-20.
- 220. Olson TS, Caselli A, Otsuru S, Hofmann TJ, Williams R, Paolucci P, et al. Megakaryocytes promote murine osteoblastic HSC niche expansion and stem cell engraftment after radioablative conditioning. Blood. 2013;121(26):5238-49.
- 221. Ludin A, Itkin T, Gur-Cohen S, Mildner A, Shezen E, Golan K, et al. Monocytesmacrophages that express alpha-smooth muscle actin preserve primitive hematopoietic cells in the bone marrow. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(11):1072-82.

- 222. Fujisaki J, Wu J, Carlson AL, Silberstein L, Putheti P, Larocca R, et al. In vivo imaging of Treg cells providing immune privilege to the haematopoietic stem-cell niche. Nature. 2011;474(7350):216-9.
- 223. Mansour A, Abou-Ezzi G, Sitnicka E, Jacobsen SE, Wakkach A, Blin-Wakkach C. Osteoclasts promote the formation of hematopoietic stem cell niches in the bone marrow. J Exp Med. 2012;209(3):537-49.
- 224. Calvi LM, Adams GB, Weibrecht KW, Weber JM, Olson DP, Knight MC, et al. Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. Nature. 2003;425(6960):841-6.
- 225. Ding L, Saunders TL, Enikolopov G, Morrison SJ. Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. Nature. 2012;481(7382):457-62.
- 226. Anthony BA, Link DC. Regulation of hematopoietic stem cells by bone marrow stromal cells. Trends Immunol. 2014;35(1):32-7.
- 227. Naveiras O, Nardi V, Wenzel PL, Hauschka PV, Fahey F, Daley GQ. Bone-marrow adipocytes as negative regulators of the haematopoietic microenvironment. Nature. 2009;460(7252):259-63.
- 228. Kennedy DE, Knight KL. Inhibition of B Lymphopoiesis by Adipocytes and IL-1-Producing Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. J Immunol. 2015;195(6):2666-74.
- 229. Geiger H, de Haan G, Florian MC. The ageing haematopoietic stem cell compartment. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(5):376-89.
- 230. Liang Y, Van Zant G, Szilvassy SJ. Effects of aging on the homing and engraftment of murine hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Blood. 2005;106(4):1479-87.
- 231. Ergen AV, Boles NC, Goodell MA. Rantes/Ccl5 influences hematopoietic stem cell subtypes and causes myeloid skewing. Blood. 2012;119(11):2500-9.
- 232. Kilpinen L, Tigistu-Sahle F, Oja S, Greco D, Parmar A, Saavalainen P, et al. Aging bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells have altered membrane glycerophospholipid composition and functionality. J Lipid Res. 2013;54(3):622-35.
- 233. Stenderup K, Justesen J, Clausen C, Kassem M. Aging is associated with decreased maximal life span and accelerated senescence of bone marrow stromal cells. Bone. 2003;33(6):919-26.
- 234. Ghiaur G, Yegnasubramanian S, Perkins B, Gucwa JL, Gerber JM, Jones RJ. Regulation of human hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal by the microenvironment's control of retinoic acid signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(40):16121-6.
- 235. Tuljapurkar SR, McGuire TR, Brusnahan SK, Jackson JD, Garvin KL, Kessinger MA, et al. Changes in human bone marrow fat content associated with changes in hematopoietic stem cell numbers and cytokine levels with aging. J Anat. 2011;219(5):574-81.
- 236. Goronzy JJ, Weyand CM. Understanding immunosenescence to improve responses to vaccines. Nat Immunol. 2013;14(5):428-36.
- 237. Zhao JL, Ma C, O'Connell RM, Mehta A, DiLoreto R, Heath JR, et al. Conversion of danger signals into cytokine signals by hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells for regulation of stress-induced hematopoiesis. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;14(4):445-59.

- 238. Esplin BL, Shimazu T, Welner RS, Garrett KP, Nie L, Zhang Q, et al. Chronic exposure to a TLR ligand injures hematopoietic stem cells. J Immunol. 2011;186(9):5367-75.
- 239. Essers MA, Offner S, Blanco-Bose WE, Waibler Z, Kalinke U, Duchosal MA, et al. IFNalpha activates dormant haematopoietic stem cells in vivo. Nature. 2009;458(7240):904-8.
- 240. Sato T, Onai N, Yoshihara H, Arai F, Suda T, Ohteki T. Interferon regulatory factor-2 protects quiescent hematopoietic stem cells from type I interferon-dependent exhaustion. Nat Med. 2009;15(6):696-700.
- 241. Belyaev NN, Brown DE, Diaz AI, Rae A, Jarra W, Thompson J, et al. Induction of an IL7-R(+)c-Kit(hi) myelolymphoid progenitor critically dependent on IFN-gamma signaling during acute malaria. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(6):477-85.
- 242. van Deursen JM. The role of senescent cells in ageing. Nature. 2014;509(7501):439-46.
- 243. Wang C, Jurk D, Maddick M, Nelson G, Martin-Ruiz C, von Zglinicki T. DNA damage response and cellular senescence in tissues of aging mice. Aging Cell. 2009;8(3):311-23.
- 244. Baker DJ, Childs BG, Durik M, Wijers ME, Sieben CJ, Zhong J, et al. Naturally occurring p16(Ink4a)-positive cells shorten healthy lifespan. Nature. 2016;530(7589):184-9.
- 245. Chang J, Wang Y, Shao L, Laberge RM, Demaria M, Campisi J, et al. Clearance of senescent cells by ABT263 rejuvenates aged hematopoietic stem cells in mice. Nat Med. 2016;22(1):78-83.
- 246. Janzen V, Forkert R, Fleming HE, Saito Y, Waring MT, Dombkowski DM, et al. Stem-cell ageing modified by the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p16INK4a. Nature. 2006;443(7110):421-6.
- Attema JL, Pronk CJ, Norddahl GL, Nygren JM, Bryder D. Hematopoietic stem cell ageing is uncoupled from p16 INK4A-mediated senescence. Oncogene. 2009;28(22):2238-43.
- 248. Vaupel JW. Biodemography of human ageing. Nature. 2010;464(7288):536-42.



Department of Laboratory Medicine Division of Molecular Hematology

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2017:8 ISBN 978-91-7619-389-1 ISSN 1652-8220

